

#### **Craven Spatial Planning Sub-Committee**

## at 6.30pm on Monday, 25<sup>th</sup> February 2019 Belle Vue Suite, Belle Vue Square Offices, Skipton

Sub-Committee Members: The Chairman (Councillor Dawson) and Councillors Barrett, Brockbank, Rose, Shuttleworth, Staveley and Sutcliffe. Substitute Members: Councillors Madeley, Mulligan and Solloway.

#### **AGENDA**

- 1. Apologies for absence
- 2. <u>Confirmation of Minutes</u> of meeting held on 28<sup>th</sup> January, 2019.
- Public Participation In the event that any questions/statements are received or members of the public attend, the public participation session will proceed for a period of up to fifteen minutes.
- **4.** <u>Declarations of Interest</u> All Members are invited to declare at this point any interests they have in items appearing on this agenda, including the nature of those interests.

(Note: Declarations should be in the form of:

a "disclosable pecuniary interest" under Appendix A to the Council's Code of Conduct, or "other interests" under Appendix B or under Paragraph 15 where a matter arises at the meeting which relates to a financial interest of a friend, relative or close associate.

A Member of Council who has a disclosable pecuniary interest must leave the room and not take part in the discussion or vote. When declaring interests under Appendix B or Paragraph 15 of the Code, Members must move to the public seating area, not vote, and speak only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.)

**5.** <u>Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan : Examiner's Report</u> – Report of the Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration. Attached.

Purpose of Report – To present the Examiner's Report on the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan, together with a Regulation 18 Decision Statement that sets out:

- Each of the Examiner's recommendations and reasons contained within the report;
- The action Craven District Council, as the Local Planning Authority, will take in response to each recommendation, as suggested by the Council's Planning Policy Team:
- Whether the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions and
- Whether the Council is satisfied that the Plan can proceed to referendum.
- **6. Date of Next Meeting** (if required)

7. <u>Any other items</u> which the Chairman decides are urgent in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972.

Agenda Contact: Chris Waterhouse – Committee Officer Tel. 01756 706235 or e-mail cwaterhouse@cravendc.gov.uk 15<sup>th</sup> February 2018

#### **Emergency Evacuation Procedure**

In case of an emergency or if the alarm sounds, leave the committee room and leave the building using the nearest available door. The assembly point is in the main square at the front entrance. An officer will take a roll call at that point. Please do not leave without telling the Chairman or the Democratic Services Section's representative.

#### **Recording at Council Meetings**

Recording is allowed at Council, committee and sub-committee meetings which are open to the public, subject to

- (i) the recording being conducted with the full knowledge of the Chairman of the meeting; and
- (ii) compliance with the Council's protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings, a copy of which is available on request. Anyone wishing to record must contact the Agenda Contact Officer (details above) prior to the start of the meeting. Any recording must be conducted openly and not disrupt proceedings.

#### **CRAVEN SPATIAL PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE**

28th January 2019

**Present** – The Chairman (Councillor Dawson) and Councillors Barrett, Brockbank, Rose, Shuttleworth, Staveley and Sutcliffe.

**Officers** – Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration, Spatial Planning Manager and Committee Officer.

Start: 6.30pm Finish: 7.37pm

The minutes of the Sub-Committee's meeting held on 28<sup>th</sup> August 2018 were confirmed and signed as a correct record.

#### **Minutes for Report**

**CSP.165** 

#### **PUBLIC PARTICIPATION**

The following persons addressed the Sub-Committee

a. Mrs J Aldersley of Gargrave addressed the Sub-Committee expressing concerns regarding equalities, accessibility for wheel chair users and highway safety in Marton Road and Church Street, Gargrave and disabled access from / to the northbound platform at Gargrave Station. Particular concerns associated with highway safety were the absence of footpaths / footpaths that were not wheelchair accessible, poor lighting / absence of street lighting and the 60mph speed limit on the stretch of Church Street at Gargrave Station with no footpath for those leaving the north bound platform. She requested the Sub-Committee's advice regarding the possibility of conditions to address her concerns being imposed on any proposed development involving the housing site allocated for Marton Road within the proposed Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan and draft Craven District Local Plan. She understood there to be no funding available to upgrade Gargrave Station and Gargrave Parish Council had indicated it could not do anything regarding the speed limit in Church Street.

The Chairman explained that unfortunately none of the issues raised by Mrs Aldersley fell within the terms of reference of the Sub-Committee, but suggested she raise her concerns regarding the speed limit in Church Street with the local County Councillor. Any planning conditions or obligations associated with development of the site in Marton Road would be a matter for the Council's Planning Committee in the event of an application for consent being forthcoming. The Spatial Planning Manager pointed out that any conditions attached to a planning consent had to be necessary, relevant to planning and the development in question, reasonable and enforceable.

b. In addressing the Sub-Committee Mr S Coetzer of Gargrave sought clarification of the position in respect of proposed development sites, in particular that situated in Marton Road Gargrave, in the event of a referendum on the proposed Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan returning a no vote.

In reply the Chairman explained that the Marton Road site was also allocated for housing within the proposed Craven District Council Local Plan, a no vote on the Neighbourhood Plan Referendum held no implications for the Local Plan and the site would remain allocated for development within that Plan once adopted. In the event of an application for planning consent being submitted residents would need to engage with that process and make representations detailing their particular concerns. The application would be considered by the Council's Planning Committee, a spokesperson for those raising concerns would be afforded the opportunity to address the Planning Committee under its public participation scheme.

c. Mr J Adams of Gargrave addressed the Sub-Committee expressing concern in respect of the consultation carried out in preparation of the proposed neighbourhood plan for Gargrave. He had made the independent examiner for the draft Neighbourhood Plan aware of what he believed were inconsistencies and failings in the consultation process on the proposed plan, including site selection, and misinterpretation of consultation results. Aware of the inclusion of the site at Marton Road Gargrave within the draft Craven District Local Plan, he enquired on what basis had the Council come to the decision to allocate the site.

In reply the Spatial Planning Manager explained that assessments and the process, including consultation, carried out in preparing the Craven District Local Plan had been completely separate to that conducted in production of the draft Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan. Gargrave Parish Council would have had access to relevant information associated with the Local Plan. The examiner for the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan would have considered whether the Plan met the basic tests and conditions for a sound plan, an element of which was whether the consultation undertaken had met reasonable requirements. If the examiner concluded the Plan met the basic conditions he would recommend that it be taken forward, with or without modifications, to referendum. For the Craven District Local Plan all sites proposed for allocation had been the subject of a rigorous assessment and the draft Plan had been the subject of three periods of public consultation over the course of its preparation. Information on site sustainability and consultation was available on the Council's website. Mr Adams would be forwarded details of how to access to that information.

d. Ms C Nash of Skipton expressed concern that the Council's decision to incorporate an area of local green space at Park Hill proposed by Skipton Civic Society with other adjoining areas of land had resulted in the Inspector conducting the Local Plan Examination reaching a view that the combined area was an extensive tract of land, contrary to the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework on local green space designation. Ms Nash expressed the opinion that the alternative local green space now proposed in response to the Inspector's finding was of least benefit to the community and failed to include the most relevant parts of the area at Park Hill. The Council would hopefully produce an alternative solution.

The Chairman stated that the issue raised by Ms Nash would be picked up in the discussion at Minute CSP.166 below.

Note: Information submitted prior the meeting by Mrs Aldersley and Mr Adams had been forwarded to all Sub-Committee Members.

### CSP.166 CRAVEN LOCAL PLAN EXAMINATION – PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS

Further to Minute CL.1065/18-19, the Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration submitted a report informing the Sub-Committee of proposed modifications to the Submission Draft Craven Local Plan. Details of the arrangements associated with publication of the proposed modifications, and remaining steps in the plan adoption process were also reported.

Members were reminded that, to resolve problems that would otherwise make a draft plan unsound or not legally compliant, an Inspector could recommend 'main modifications' to a submission draft plan. Main modifications were changes which either alone, or in combination with others, would materially alter the plan or its policies. The Inspector conducting the examination of the Council's Submission Draft Craven Local Plan had recommended over 100 main modifications to make the plan sound. The content of the majority of the proposed modifications involved changes to policy wording, including site allocation development principles to make them as effective and clear as possible. In consultation with the Inspector, officers had agreed the content of the proposed modifications. The Inspector had not recommended that any changes be made to the draft Plan's spatial strategy, housing, employment and retail growth levels and proposed sites, or to the

purpose/objectives of all the development management policies. Details of the most significant changes were summarised within the Strategic Manager's report.

The Council was required to publish the main modifications for public consultation, in addition to those modifications the need for a number of minor modifications had also been identified, and whilst not a requirement of the consultation process, those changes would also be published at the same time as the formal consultation on the main modifications. Minor modifications covered such things as correcting typographical errors, updates to supporting text to reflect factual changes, and ensuring there was consistency in plan and policy referencing, they did not materially affect the operation or meaning of policies in the Plan.

In introducing the Strategic Manager's report the Spatial Planning Manager explained that the intention had been to submit the main modifications to public consultation for a period of six weeks commencing 29<sup>th</sup> January 2019, however, the Inspector in proposing modifications to some local green space designations had indicated that he would re-visit the areas in question on receipt of pre-consultation representations from representors and hearing participants on the Council's alternative proposals. Those visits had to date not taken place and the Inspector's response was still awaited; the intended formal consultation had therefore been postponed.

In responding to the statement made by Ms Nash under public participation, the Spatial Planning Manager reported that the Civic Society's representations in respect of the Council's proposed main modification to the local green space designation for Park Hill, Skipton and neighbouring land had been received after the stated deadline, and the Inspector had declined to take them into account. The Civic Society would, however, be able to make representations on the modification under the formal six week public consultation period.

In responding to a Member's question during the course of the ensuing discussion, the Spatial Planning Manager undertook to review whether Bell Busk should be referenced as a Tier 5 Settlement within Policy SP4: Spatial Strategy and Housing Growth.

- **Resolved** (1) That the Strategic Manager's report, arrangements and procedures for publication of the proposed modifications to the Submission Draft Craven Local Plan and beyond towards plan adoption are noted.
  - (2) That, when known, the Spatial Planning Manager notifies Members of Council of the intended date for commencement of the public consultation on the proposed main modifications.

CSP.167

#### **DATE OF NEXT MEETING**

To be arranged, if required, in consultation with the Chairman and Sub-Committee Membership.

Chairman.

## **Craven Spatial Planning Sub- Committee** – 25 February 2019

# CRAVEN

#### NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING – Examiner Report on the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan

Report of the Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration

Ward(s) affected: All

- Purpose of Report To present the Examiner's Report on the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan, as set out at Appendix 1. To present a Regulation 18 Decision Statement that sets out:
  - Each of the examiner's recommendations and reasons contained within the report;
  - The action Craven District Council, as the Local Planning Authority, will take in response to each recommendation, as suggested by the Council's Planning Policy Team;
  - Whether the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions and
  - Whether the Council is satisfied that the Plan can proceed to referendum.
- 2. **Recommendations** Members are recommended:
- 2.1 To consider each recommendation included in the Examiner's Report and agree the action to be taken in response to each recommendation as suggested by the Planning Policy Team. See Table 1: Schedule of Modifications Recommended in the Examiner's Report Relating to the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan in Appendix 2.
- 2.2 To agree that, subject to the examiner's recommended modifications, the Gargrave NP meets the 'Basic Conditions'.
- 2.3 To agree that the Gargrave NP can proceed to Referendum, as recommended by the examiner. The area covered by the referendum would be the 'Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan Area' designated by Craven District Council on the 27<sup>th</sup> January 2014.
- 2.4 To approve a supplementary estimate to cover the examination of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan and other ancillary costs of £9,085.
- 2.5 To approve a budget up to £20,000 to cover the costs associated with the referendum on the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan. The costs will be reimbursed by a Neighbourhood Planning Grant of £20,000 which can be claimed once a date for the referendum has been set.

#### 3. Report

- 3.1 The Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan is a community-led planning framework, which sets out a vision, objectives and a number of planning policies that relate to the designated neighbourhood area. If the plan is adopted or 'made', it will become part of the local statutory development plan for the area up to 2032, together with the Craven Local Plan. Both plans will form the basis for determining planning applications in that area.
- 3.2 The Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to Craven District Council in May 2018. Craven District Council held a 6 week public consultation period on the submitted Plan from Monday 25th June to Monday 6th August 2018. The submitted Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan can be viewed via the following link <a href="https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/">https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/</a> Paper copies of the plan can be provided to members if requested.
- 3.3 Members will recall that during a meeting of Craven Spatial Planning Sub Committee held on the 28<sup>th</sup> August 2018 members were presented with two potential examiners: Mr Terry Heselton and Mr Robert Bryan, referred by the Neighbourhood Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service (NPIERS). Members agreed with the recommendation to appoint Mr Terry Heselton, however, during September 2018 Mr Heselton confirmed that he was no longer in a position to meet the envisaged start date of the examination owing to other long term commitments. During the same meeting members granted delegated authority to the Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration to appoint an independent examiner to examine neighbourhood plans. Therefore Mr Robert Bryan was appointed by Craven District Council, as the Local Planning Authority, as an independent examiner in October 2018 to undertake the examination of the Submitted Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan. The neighbourhood plan was examined by Mr Bryan during November and December 2018 and was conducted by written representations. The final examination report was sent by Mr Bryan to both the Parish Council and District Council on 22nd January 2019.
- 3.4 The role of the independent examiner is to only consider whether the proposed neighbourhood plan meets the following basic conditions set out by law:
- Has appropriate regard to national policy
- Contributes to the achievement of sustainable development
- Is in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan for the area
- Is compatible with human rights requirements
- Is compatible with EU obligations.
- 3.5 The Examiner's Report relating to the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan considers procedural matters, consultation on the draft Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan,

conformity with each of the basic conditions set out above, and sets out a total of eighteen recommendations relating to the basic conditions.

- 3.6 The Local Planning Authority is required to come to a formal view about whether the draft plan meets the basic conditions. If the authority is satisfied that the draft plan does meet the basic conditions, or can do so if modified, a referendum must be held. Each of the examiner's recommendations and reasons are set out in full in Table 1 within Appendix 2 together with the Planning Policy Team's suggested action to be taken in response to each recommendation.
- 3.7 Members will note, from Appendix 2, that the Planning Policy Team agree with each of the examiner's recommendations and consider that subject to the modifications included in the examiner's recommendations, the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions and can proceed to a referendum.
- 3.8 As soon as possible after considering the examiner's recommendations and making a formal view about whether the draft neighbourhood plan meets the basic conditions, the local planning authority must publish:
  - The Regulation 18 Decision Statement
  - The Examiner's Report
  - Details of where and when the Regulation 18 Decision Statement and report can be inspected.

Craven District Council is required to publish the Regulation 18 Decision Statement and the Examiner's Report on their website and in such other manner as the Council considers is likely to bring these documents to the attention of people, who live, work or carry on business in the neighbourhood area.

3.9 Members may be aware that during the examination of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan a number of Gargrave residents raised concerns with the examiner that Gargrave Parish Council had not accurately referred to consultation responses in the draft neighbourhood plan documents, particularly relating to comments (referred to as "votes" by concerned residents) on the site selection process at the informal stage of plan preparation up to the summer of 2015. The group of residents formed the Marton Road Working Group (MRWG) and had particular concerns in relation to the allocation of the Marton Road site ref G2/4. land west of Walton Close. Mr Bryan considered that these matters should be investigated, as part of the examination, in the interest of assessing the basic conditions relating to fairness and human rights, despite the fact that the opportunity for public comment on the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan had passed. The examiner's investigation relating to the group's concerns about the consultation process is set out at paragraphs 79 to 93 on pages 17-19 of the Examiner's Report. which is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. Paragraph 93 of the report sets out the examiner's conclusion that the site selection has been based on a rigorous and fair process.

#### Referendum Relating to the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan

- 3.10 The referendum on the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan is planned to be held on Thursday 30<sup>th</sup> May 2019. The rules for the referendum are covered in The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 (as amended by the NP (Referendum) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 etc. Information about the referendum is required to be published 28 days before the date of the referendum. CDC then has to give notice that the referendum is taking place and the date of the poll, 25 working days before the date of the referendum. All local government electors whose names appear on the electoral register in each Parish (the NP area) as of 12 working days before polling day will be entitled to vote. The question that will be asked of people on the electoral register is: "Do you want Craven District Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Gargrave to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?" If more than 50% of those voting vote "yes" then Craven District Council would bring the plan into force, which means that it would form part of the statutory Development Plan for Craven.
- 3.11 Following consideration of the Examiner's Report relating to the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan together with the Regulation 18 Decision Statement, as set out at appendix 1 & 2 to this report, members are recommended to agree the actions to be taken in response to each of the Examiner's recommendations, that the Plan meets the basic conditions and is ready to proceed to referendum.

#### 4. **Implications**

- 4.1 Financial and Value for Money (vfm) Implications Once a neighbourhood area is approved, the local planning authority is legally required to support, advise and assist parish and town councils in producing a Neighbourhood Plan in its area. This Duty to Support does not require the provision of financial assistance to parish or town councils. The Localism Act does however require the local planning authority to pay for the local referendum and examination in respect of a neighbourhood plan. The Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government provide financial support for neighbourhood planning. For the period 2018/19 the following financial support will be provided:
  - Area designation: LPAs can claim £5,000 for the first five neighbourhood areas designated only. The limit of five areas applies to the total number of areas designated in the LPA (i.e. it includes areas designated in previous years). £5,000 was claimed in July 2014 following the designation of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Area by CDC in January 2014. Craven District Council has claimed for a further two areas designated in Bradley and Cononley.
  - <u>For all areas</u>: LPAs can claim £20,000 once they have set a date for a referendum following a successful examination where a neighbourhood plan has not previously been made for that area. The cost of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan Referendum is estimated to be £2,500 £3,000.
- 4.2 The LPA is responsible for paying the costs of the examination. An Examiner appointed via the Neighbourhood Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service (NPIERS) will charge £750 plus VAT per day (plus any reasonable expenses) to undertake the examination a neighbourhood plan. The Gargrave Neighbourhood

Plan was examined over 12 days and the cost was £9,085 including expenses. The £5,000 grant claimed following designation of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Area contributes towards the cost of the examination.

- 4.3 Legal Implications The Localism Act 2011 places a duty on local authorities to hold referendum(s) where a neighbourhood plan has a successful examination and the local planning authority is satisfied that it meets the basic conditions set out in the legislation. The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012 and the subsequent amendments as made by the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 sets out the Council's legal duties in respect of covering all aspects of organising and conducting polls including the opening hours of polling stations and the content of ballot papers. These largely replicate the Local Authorities (Conduct of Referendums) (England) Regulations 2012. The plan should proceed to the referendum stage in a timely manner.
- 4.4 **Contribution to Council Priorities** Enabling neighbourhood planning positively contributes towards the Council Plan objective to support local citizens to become more actively involved in their communities.
- 4.5 **Risk Management** The report sets out the steps the Council is required to take to comply with its legal duties under the Town and Country Planning Act relating to preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan and specifically consideration by the local planning authority of each modification recommended by an independent neighbourhood plan examiner and the arrangement of the referendum.
- 4.6 **Equality Impact Assessment** No new policy or procedure is proposed in this report which would give rise to a requirement for an Equality Analysis.
- 5. <u>Consultations with Others</u> Financial Services, Legal Services and Electoral Services
- 6. <u>Access to Information: Background Documents</u> Gargrave Neighbourhood Development Plan 2018-2032 can be viewed at <a href="https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/">https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/</a> If members prefer to have a paper copy of the neighbourhood plan, please contact Democratic Services.
- 7. <u>Author of the Report</u> Ruth Parker, Planning Officer; telephone 01756 706232; e-mail rparker@cravendc.gov.uk

Note: Members are invited to contact the author in advance of the meeting with any detailed queries or questions.

#### 8. Appendices:

Appendix 1: Gargrave Neighbourhood Development Plan Examiner's Report Appendix 2: Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan Regulation 18 Decision Statement

#### **GARGRAVE**

#### NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN

#### **EXAMINER'S REPORT**

R J Bryan B.A. Hons. MRTPI.

#### CONTENTS

	Page
Abbreviations and Acronyms	3
Introduction	3
Background Documents	4
The Examination	6
Procedural Matters	6
Consultation	7
Basic Conditions	8
Sustainable Development	9
EU Obligations Human Rights Requirements	9
Conformity with National and Local Strategic Policies	12
Recommendations in relation to Basic Conditions	12
POLICY G1 New Housing within the Settlement Boundary	13
POLICY G2 Site Allocations	16
POLICY G3 Ensuring an Appropriate Range of Tenures, Types and Sizes of Housing	23
POLICY G4 Supporting Care Home Provision in Gargrave	23
POLICY G5 Tourism and Business Development	26
POLICY G6 Protecting Local Heritage Assets	28
POLICY G7 Development in the Conservation Area	28
POLICY G8 Promoting High Quality Design	29
POLICY G9 Planning Out Crime	30
POLICY G10 Local Green Spaces	30

POLICY G11 Protecting and Enhancing Local Recreational Facilities	32
POLICY G12 Protecting and Enhancing the Rural Landscape setting and Wildlife Gargrave	of 33
POLICY G13 Significant Views	34
POLICY G14 Supporting Improvements to Accessibility	35
POLICY G15 Development in Areas of Flood Risk from Water Courses and Surfa Water	ace 35
POLICY G16 Design for Flood Resilience and Resistance	36
POLICY G17 Design to reduce Surface Water Run Off	36
SUMMARY	36

#### APPENDIX 1

Relevant email correspondence carried out during examination (excludes basic acknowledgements, information exchanges etc.)

#### ABBREVIATIONS and ACRONYMS

The following are acronyms and abbreviations used in this examination:

Emerging Local Plan – Publication Draft Craven Local Plan (Jan 2018)

HRA - Habitats Regulation Assessment.

Local Plan - Craven Local Plan 1999, Saved Policies

NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework.

NPPG - National Planning Practice Guidance.

SEA - Strategic Environmental Assessment.

SHLAA - Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment

The Council - Craven District Council.

The Plan - the Neighbourhood Development Plan under examination.

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1. This is an independent examination of a Neighbourhood Plan prepared by the Parish Council in consultation with the local community. The Localism Act 2011 provided local communities with the opportunity to have a stronger say in their future by preparing neighbourhood plans, which contain policies relating to the development and use of land.
- 2. If the plan is made, following a local referendum, which must receive the support of over 50% of those voting, it will form part of the statutory development plan. It will be an important consideration in the determination of planning applications as these must be determined in accordance with development plan policies unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
- 3. I have been appointed by Craven District Council (the Council) in consultation with the Parish Council to carry out this independent examination. I am a Chartered Town Planner with over 30 years experience working at a senior level in local government and as a private consultant. I am a member of the Royal Town Planning Institute
- 4. I confirm that I am independent of the Parish and the Council and have no interest in any land, which is affected by the Neighbourhood Development Plan (the Plan).
- 5. This report is the outcome of my examination of the submitted version of the Plan.
- 6. My report will make recommendations based on my findings on whether the Plan should go forward to a referendum. If the Council puts the plan forward to a referendum and it then receives the support of over 50% of those voting, then the Plan will be "made" by the Authority as the Local Planning Authority.

#### BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

7. I have considered the following documents as part of this examination:

#### Documents submitted for the examination

The Gargrave Neighbourhood Development Plan 2018-2032, Submission Version, Basic Conditions Statement, May 2018,

Map of the NDP area,

Consultation Statement May 2018 and attached tables 1,2,3 and 4.1,4.2.

Regulation 16 Consultation Responses

Habitats Regulation Assessment "Examination of Likely Significant Effects", January 2018 and updated version, November 2018, David Feeney, B.E. (Environmental), MRUP, MSc, Craven DC,

Strategic Environmental Assessment, Screening Report", February 2018 and updated version Iteration 2, November 2018, prepared by David Feeney, B.E. (Environmental), MRUP, MSc Craven DC.

#### Local and National Policies

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)<sup>1</sup>; National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

Craven Local Plan 1999, Saved Policies,

Craven Local Plan (Publication draft) January 2018,

Craven Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMAA) Update 2017, Final Report, November 2017.

Craven Local Plan Residential Site Selection Process, Background Paper, June 2017.

#### Other Documents

Results of Residents' Feedback Forms relating to the consultation period 22.9.14 - 3.11.14,

Gargrave Call for Sites Assessment Report, updated May 2015, Kirkwells.

Gargrave Site Assessment Methodology, Kirkwells, 15.2.15,

Gargrave Neighbourhood Development Plan Informal Public Consultation (contains Ranking Order) – May/June 2015,

Gargrave Draft Neighbourhood Development Plan Autumn 2015 Public Consultation 5.11.15-21.12.15 2015 Representation Form

Draft Gargrave Conservation Appraisal, August 2016,

Gargrave NDP Proposed Local Green Spaces, Assessment by Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan Working Group (GNPWG), Spring 2016,

Gargrave Draft Neighbourhood Development Plan, Results & Ranking Order

Sheet 23.07.15, Results & Ranking Order Sheet 23.07.15,

See Appendix 1 at rear for list of relevant email correspondence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The relevant version for this Plan is the NPPF, March 2012.

#### THE EXAMINATION

- 8. The nature of the independent examination is set out in Section 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
- 9. The examiner has to make a recommendation as to whether the Plan should be submitted to a referendum, with or without modifications, and if the area for the referendum should extend beyond the plan area.
- 10. As a general rule the examination should be carried out on the basis of written representations unless a hearing is necessary to allow adequate consideration of an issue or to allow a person a fair chance to put a case.
- 11. I visited the Plan area on the 13.12.18 and assessed the implications of the proposed Plan as part of the examination.

#### PROCEDURAL MATTERS

- 12. It is necessary to determine that the Plan complies with the following procedural matters<sup>2</sup>:
  - The Plan has been prepared and submitted by a qualifying body
  - The Plan has been prepared for an area that has been properly designated
  - The Plan specifies the period to which it has effect, does not include provisions about excluded development and does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area
  - The policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated neighbourhood area.
- 13. The Plan had been prepared and submitted by a qualifying body, Gargarve Parish Council. It relates to an area, which includes a small part of the Yorkshire Dales National Park. The designated neighbourhood area includes the Parish area apart from that part which was formerly within Stirton and Thorlby. The designated plan area was approved by the Council on 27.4.14 and the National Park Authority on the 25.3.14.
- 14.In accordance with the regulations<sup>3</sup>, the Plan sets out policies in relation to the development and use of land and does not refer to "excluded" development. It specifies the period for which it has effect (2018-2032). It does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Paragraph 8(1) of Schedule 4 B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

#### CONSULTATION

- 15. The Parish has submitted a Consultation statement, which describes the process of consultation and summarises responses received up to the time of the final statutory consultation period administered by the Council from 25.6.18 to 6.8.18.
- 16. The Plan working group was set up in 2013 and made up of interested village residents and several Parish Councillors. A web site was established to provide information on the progression of the Plan.
- 17. The first consultation exercise in the summer 2014 sought feedback from the public via a questionnaire and drop-in session in September 2014. This highlighted issues of concern and importance and the proposed site allocations as part of the emerging Craven District Local Plan.
- 18.A "Call for Sites" exercise was carried out in January 2015 and the sites were assessed in a report published on the web site.
- 19.A draft Plan was prepared and the subject of consultation via a drop-in session in the village hall in May 2015 and publication on the web site through the summer of 2015. Responses were collated and a further draft sent out for formal consultation<sup>4</sup> from 5.11.15 to 21.12.15.
- 20. The publicity of this draft included publication on the web site, leaflets posted to households and businesses, adverts in the "Craven Herald" and the Parish newsletter of October 2015.
- 21.At the end of this consultation it became apparent that certain technical consultation bodies had not been consulted so a further formal consultation was carried out from 8.2.16 to 21.3.16.
- 22. The Plan was amended following the consultation and submitted to the Council in July 2016. The Plan was then withdrawn on the advice of the Council to take account of further evidence arising from the preparation of the Craven District Local Plan. In particular, this related to revisions to the emerging Local Plan's Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) and further information on the objectively assessed housing needs. Further amendments were made to the Plan mainly to take account of this extra evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> carried out under Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

- 23. The Plan was the submitted to the Council and the final formal consultation was carried out from 25.6.18 to 6.8.18.
- 24. The submitted Consultation Statement explains the manner in which the Plan was publicised, a summary of the representations and how these were taken into account in the further drafting of the Plan. The Consultation Statement also lists all the organisations that were consulted and summarises their responses.
- 25.I am satisfied that the "Consultation Statement", demonstrates a good level of consultation, which has targeted all sections of the community and allowed technical consultees and developers to be effectively involved in the emerging Plan. Some members of the public have raised issues, during the examination, regarding the reporting of representations. I deal with these issues below in relation to the policies and the specific topics raised.

#### **BASIC CONDITIONS**

26. It is necessary to decide whether the Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the "basic conditions" specified in the Act. <sup>6</sup> This element of the examination relates to the contents of the Plan.

- 27. This Plan meets the basic conditions if:
- a) It has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State,
- b) The making of the plan contributes to sustainable development,
- c) The making of the plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area,
- d) The making of the plan does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations and human rights requirements,
- e) Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Plan and prescribed matters have been complied with. The prescribed condition is that the 'making' of the neighbourhood plan is not likely to have a significant effect on a European site (as defined in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2012, as amended by the 2018 Regulations) (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects).
- 28. The Parish has submitted a "Basic Conditions Statement", to seek to demonstrate conformity. The analysis of conformity with the basic conditions is carried out below. Note this is not in the order specified above.

<sup>6</sup> Contained Paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Gargrave NDP Examination Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> carried out under Regulation 16 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

#### SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

- 29. The Parish submits in the Basic Conditions Statement that the Plan complies with NPPF core policies, which ensure the Plan promotes sustainable development. The NPPF establishes that the three components of sustainability are economic, social and environmental and that these underpin all planning policy.
- 30.In the Basic Conditions Statement there are two tables, which itemize the manner in which various policies in the Plan meet the core principles and three components of sustainable development as referred to in the guidance in the NPPF.
- 31. Table 1 demonstrates that the Plan is firmly aligned with the core principles of the NPPF and the principles of sustainability, which underpin them.
- 32.In economic terms, in principle, the Plan supports saved Local Plan policies and the national park Local Plan, which are concerned to promote environmentally sensitive smaller scale development. I have recommended below that the draft Plan policy G5 "Tourism and Business Development" be deleted on account of certain detailed issues and have further recommended there is cross –reference to saved Local Plan and national park Local Plan policies on economic development. On this basis I am satisfied the Plan supports sustainable economic development.
- 33. In the social respect, the Plan protects community facilities (policy G11) and promotes health and well being through the protection of the landscape and facilities for active recreation. Policy G14 contributes with the encouragement of public transport, walking and cycling. Housing policy G3 seeks to meet the needs of the community provide a range of housing to meet local needs including affordable housing.
- 34.In its environmental role the Plan contains a range of policies, which contribute to sustainability. These policies protect and enhance local landscape character (Policy G12), protect local heritage assets (policy G6), assimilate new development into the conservation area (policy G7), promote high quality design (policy G8), protect local green spaces (policy G10), protect and enhance local recreational facilities (policy G11) and protect and enhance the rural landscape setting and wildlife of Gargrave.
- 35.I am satisfied that the Plan contributes to sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.

#### EU OBLIGATIONS, HUMAN RIGHTS REQUIREMENTS

36. A neighbourhood plan must be compatible with European Union Directives as incorporated into UK law, in order to be legally compliant. Key directives are the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive<sup>7</sup> and the Habitats and Wild Birds

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Article 3(5) of Directive 2001/42/EC

Directives<sup>8</sup>. These require that consideration should be given to the need for a Strategic Environmental Assessment to assess any significant environmental impacts and /or an appropriate Habitats Regulations Assessment to assess any impact on a site/habitat recognised as protected under European legislation<sup>9</sup>. A neighbourhood plan should also take account of the requirements to consider human rights.

- 37. The Council made a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Determination. It is concluded that an SEA of the emerging Neighbourhood Plan is not required and the policies in the Plan are not likely to lead to any significantly adverse effects of a social, environmental or economic dimension.
- 38. The Assessment highlights that the policies of the neighbourhood plan seek to avoid deleterious impacts and in Appendix V are shown to have negligible impacts. In some cases there are potentially positive impacts on social, environmental and economic interests.
- 39.In particular, listed buildings are protected from residential site allocations and design policies protect the locally distinctive architecture. The allocation of green spaces has health and well being benefits and diverts pressure from important designated environmental assets. There are no significant pollution threats and high flood risk is avoided. The housing policies contribute to meeting local housing needs.
- 40.Natural England (NE) stated it had no significant concerns regarding environmental effects but in procedural terms noted that the SEA did not adhere to the SEA European Directive, which advises it should set out SEA objectives against which the policies and allocations in the plan are assessed. During the examination the SEA was updated (Iteration 2, November 2018) to reflect this advice and the initial conclusions remain unaffected.
- 41.I am content with the conclusions on the SEA.

42.A draft screening opinion regarding the need for a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) was prepared in early 2016. Following advice from NE, a stage 2 appropriate assessment was then prepared to identify "Likely Significant Effects" of the Plan's policies, either alone or cumulatively with other Plans relating to the vicinity of the Plan area. The potential impacts on the North Pennine Moors SAC and SPA, the South Pennine Moors SAC and SPA Phase 2, the Craven Limestone Complex SAC and Malham Tarn Ramsar site were examined.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> European Directives 92/43/EEC and 2007/147/EC transposed into the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Often referred to as Natura 2000 sites and include Ramsar sites - wetlands of international importance, Special Areas of Protection (SPA) - providing protection to bird habitats and Special Areas of conservation (SAC) - protect a variety of plants animals and habitats.

43.It is concluded the Plan establishes a reasonable and pragmatic strategic approach to appropriately reduce the risk of adverse impacts. This includes allocating and distributing proposed development sites effectively, providing pathways for green infrastructure networks, and maintaining and establishing alternative recreational sites in the form of local green spaces and otherwise. The Plan is shown to have negligible impacts, or in many cases to have potentially positive impacts on designated site protection. It is concluded that any significant adverse effects are capable of being avoided and/or mitigated.

44.Natural England (NE) responded at the regulation 16 stage that they were "broadly satisfied" with the HRA. However they advised "that more details should be provided in relation to the assessment of recreational disturbance on the North Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA) alone and in-combination with the wider Craven Local Plan and the assessment of traffic emissions on the North Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA) in combination with the draft Craven Local Plan and Harrogate Local Plan." The emerging Local Plan HRA was then updated and NE responded that they concurred with the conclusion that in terms of the impacts of the Craven and Harrogate Local Plans there are no adverse effects on air quality and the integrity of the North Pennine Moors SAC and North Pennine Moors Special Protection Area.

45. Following my request, the HRA was updated in turn to take account of associated updates to the emerging Local Plan HRA, which allowed an assessment of the air quality and recreational impacts. The updated HRA maintains the position of no likely significant effects on the basis that the Neighbourhood Plan development allocations are contributing little traffic to the cumulative total envisaged in the emerging Craven and Harrogate Local Plans.

46. The updated Neighbourhood Plan HRA also adds analysis of the recreational impacts of extra people living close to the designated areas. It is concluded that there is no significant impact of the extra development and particular locations of development sites in Gargrave. Any impact is to an extent mitigated by the protection of existing green spaces, which are closer to the proposed allocated sites than the SPA/SAC sites. Furthermore, the updated HRA notes the location of the allocated sites for developments do not unduly interfere with supporting habitats for species in the designated areas.

47.Natural England has responded to the District Council that in terms of the cumulative impact of the traffic emissions with the emerging strategic local plans they consider there are "no adverse effects on the integrity" of the SPA/SAC sites. Natural England has not within the reasonable time limits of this examination responded to the amended HRA in relation to the recreational impacts but in view of its earlier expressed broad satisfaction and that the updated HRA clearly demonstrates no reasonable potential for likely significant effects I am content with the overall analysis and conclusions of the HRA. I am satisfied that the HRA complies with the basic conditions as amended by the Conservation of Habitats and

Species Regulations 2012, as amended by the 2017 Regulations.

48.I note that the statutory consultees Historic England and the Environment Agency were consulted at two relevant stages in the process and were made aware of the changes to the settlement boundaries and the removal of some site allocations. Neither of these bodies raised an overriding objection to the SEA or HRA reports.

49.I do not consider the Plan raises any issues under the European Convention and the Human Rights Act 1998. In terms of the Article 6 of the Act and the right to a "fair hearing" I consider the consultation process has been effective and proportionate in it's efforts to reach out to different groups potentially affected. Consultation responses have been taken into account in a satisfactory manner during the processing of the plan. There have been some concerns regarding the consultation process in relation to the choice of the housing sites, which I have dealt with as a specific issue below.

#### CONFORMITY WITH NATIONAL AND LOCAL STRATEGIC POLICIES

- 50. The Parish states in the "Basic Conditions Statement" that the Plan takes into account national planning policies and guidance in the NPPF and is in general conformity with local strategic planning policies.
- 51. Table 1 in the "Basic Conditions Statement" demonstrates in relative detail that the Plan takes into account the core planning principles outlined in the NPPF. I am satisfied that the Plan takes account of national advice apart from those instances where I have recommended Plan modifications referred to below.
- 52. The "Basic Conditions Statement" provides more detail to demonstrate the Plan is in general conformity with strategic policies in the adopted Craven Local Plan 1999 Saved Policies and the Adopted Yorkshire Dales National Park Local Plan 2015 2030. The emerging Local Plan is not yet at a stage where its has to be regarded although evidence produced in connection with it can be used to inform policies as explained in national planning policy guidance (NPPG). The table 3 in the "Basic Conditions Statement" analyses each of the Plan's policies in relation all three of these Plans.
- 53. This demonstrates that the Plan is broadly in conformity with strategic policies. I have however identified some modifications below, which are necessary to fully achieve this.
- 54.I also note that at the end of each policy chapter there is reference to the relevant supporting local planning policies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Paragraph: 043 Reference ID: 41-043-20140306

55.I am satisfied that the Plan is in general conformity with strategic policies subject to my modifications below which refer to certain matters of detail.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS IN RELATION TO BASIC CONDITIONS

#### **General Matters**

- 56. I have made recommendations below, which will allow the plan to conform to "basic conditions". Where I am suggesting modifications I have given reasons. In cases of minor grammatical or formatting issues, I have simply highlighted the need for correction.
- 57. I have taken into account all aspects of the representations received during the Plan process. In some cases these do not require specific reference or highlight of particular issues as they do not in my view effectively raise a concern that the Plan does not conform to basic conditions.
- 58.In some cases due to the specific and detailed nature of a representation and its relevance to "basic conditions", for ease of reference, I have referred to the author of the representation by name.
- 59.I have explained my recommendations in accordance with the order and format of the Plan and expressed them in bold type at the end of the various sections
- 60.I recommend that a Glossary is added to the Plan in the interests of clarity and an aid to readers who may not be familiar with technical terms. This should cover all the acronyms used in the document. The NPPF contains a useful glossary as a guide.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 1**

#### Insert a glossary as an appendix to the Plan.

#### POLICY G1 New Housing within the Settlement Boundary

61. The supporting text sets out the basis of the site allocations and the settlement boundary. It explains there was a thorough process of site selection involving a "Call for Sites" public consultation in February 2015. A Call for Sites Assessment Report was prepared and included sites identified in the Council's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and one further site identified by the Parish Council's "Call for Sites". A systematic scoring system was applied based on criteria which align with the vision and objectives of the Plan, the national and local strategic planning policies and principles of sustainability. This process has factored in adequate community consultation.

- 62. The policy is in general conformity with the saved Local Plan policies, which identify the village as a local service centre and evidence relating to the emerging local plan. The most recent housing needs survey, which informs the emerging plan, establishes that the village as a "Tier 3 Settlement Local Service Centre" will have to provide 116 dwellings in the Plan period, once commitments have been taken into account.
- 63. The policy establishes the settlement boundary based on the need to allocate 116 dwellings. It further establishes a number of criteria for accepting smaller scale new housing within the settlement boundary, which is not allocated. Some of these require further definition and clarity in order to meet the requirements of government advice in the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)<sup>11</sup> that "A policy in a neighbourhood plan should be clear and unambiguous. It should be drafted with sufficient clarity that a decision maker can apply it consistently and with confidence when determining planning applications."
- 64. The policy establishes some planning criteria but the introductory paragraph should cross-refer to other planning policies including those in this Plan. Whilst a wide range of statutory policies are relevant to any development proposal in view of the particular wide-ranging nature of planning issues relating to housing proposals, it would establish more clarity by signposting to the wider policy context.
- 65. There is some duplication with other Plan policies, which is confusing. In some cases the criteria in this policy only partially replicates the policy elsewhere in the Plan, which is clearly confusing and can be remedied by simply cross-referring to that policy.
- 66. Criterion 1 states sites should be "well-related" which is rather vague. Policy G8 1, Promoting High Quality Design", provides a more informative reference.
- 67. Criterion 2 would benefit from elaboration as to what constitutes "good accessibility".
- 68. Criterion 4 is too prescriptive in reference to development being unacceptable on all open spaces or recreational areas. These areas need further qualification.
- 69. Criterion 5 refers to loss of employment opportunities, which needs qualification. Planning policies should be rooted in land use matters and the policy should refer to sites and buildings in employment use and consider when such uses are not viable. Furthermore, employment opportunities are associated with a range of different uses some of which provide a relatively low number of jobs and on sites, such as retail,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Paragraph: 041 Reference ID: 41-041-20140306

cafes, restaurants which are not necessarily primarily suitable for employment use. In planning terms, therefore, it is not justifiable to protect all employment generating sites and uses. No evidence has been provided in the Plan to this effect. I consider that only B Class<sup>12</sup> business and industry uses provide significant employment opportunities and this should be reflected in the policy. This covers office, business and industrial uses.

70. Criterion 6 relates to flooding and should refer to national policy and this Plan's policies.

71. Criterion 7 should refer to highway safety.

72. Criterion 8 is seeking to minimise the intrusive impact of new development by utlising existing buildings and to ensure their sustainable use. This can only apply to buildings of some architectural or historic interest, which are in reasonable condition.

73. Criterion 9 should refer to Plan policy G13 "Significant Views".

74. Criterion 10 should refer to Plan policy G8 1 "Promoting High Quality Design";

#### **RECOMMENDATION 2**

Add a new paragraph in the supporting text after 6.1.10 as follows;

"The following policy provides a cross-reference and signpost to statutory policies which will particularly relate to consideration of new housing and also includes extra criteria."

#### Amend Policy G1 as follows;

At the end of the introductory paragraph of the policy add "and conform to other statutory planning policies, including those in this Plan".

Amend Criterion 1 to "The development integrates with the built form and grain of the village as required by Policy G8 1 "Promoting High Quality Design";

Amend Criterion 2 to "Sites have good accessibility and where possible connect with relevant footpaths and cycle ways";

Amend Criterion 4 to "They do not contravene Policy G10 "Local Green Space" and Policy G11 "Protecting and Enhancing Local Recreational Facilities":

Gargrave NDP Examination Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> as described in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as amended.

Amend Criterion 5 to "They do not lead to loss of sites or buildings in B Class\* employment use unless that use can be proven as unviable or unsuitable as an allocation for that use on planning grounds"; \*Use a footnote to explain it is as described in the T &CP (Use Classes Order) 1987, as amended.

Add to the end Criterion 6 "in accordance with national policy and Plan policies G16 and 17 (as re-numbered).

In Criterion 7 after "adversely" add "on highway safety".

In Criterion 8 add "which are of architectural or historic interest and in sound condition."

In Criterion 9 add " and conform to Plan policy G13 " Significant Views".

In Criterion 10 add "and conform to Plan policy G8 1, "Promoting High Quality Design".

#### POLICY G2 Site Allocations

75. This policy allocates sites for residential development within the settlement boundary. It is based on a process to meet the objectively assessed housing needs for the Plan area, which is 116 dwellings over the Plan period.

76. The identification of sites has involved a "Call for Sites" and a process of scoring to identify the preferred options. The Council's Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) has also been used to identify sites for consideration. The scoring system is explained in Kirkwells "Site Assessment Methodology, 15.2.15" and was based on criteria relating to achieving sustainable development\_including proximity to services, facilities, avoiding impact on heritage assets, avoiding flooding and use of the most versatile agricultural land.

77. There are no overriding objections from technical consultees to the selected sites. In particular the highways and flooding issues have been accounted for in the site selection process. Comments from the County Council Highways Authority are included as an appendix to the Plan on some of the proposed allocations whilst the remainder i.e. Neville House and Eshton Road sites, are covered by the evidence relating to the emerging Local Plan.

78. There is a rationale in the supporting text to justify the site selection process. The scoring of sites, technical constraints and public comments are factored in to the sites, which were chosen and the supporting documents and Plan text provides an adequate explanation in relation to the identified sites. The scoring of sites is consistent with that of the emerging Local Plan site selection process. All the sites are assessed in a proportionate manner and the scoring and final choice explained in a rational, transparent manner.

#### Concerns about the consultation process

- 79. The Parish Council state community support was factored into the decisions on site allocations. During the examination I received correspondence from the community that some responses to the Plan consultations are not referred to in the Consultation Statement or text in the Plan. I considered that these matters should be investigated in the interest of assessing basic conditions relating to fairness and human rights, despite the fact that the opportunity for public comment on the Plan had passed. I made it clear that as the formal consultation period had passed and the planning context affecting the plan had not changed since that time, I would only consider procedural issues in relation to the fairness of the consultation procedures and not comments relating to the planning merits of the draft Plan.
- 80. There were some concerns that the Parish Council had not accurately referred in the Plan documents to consultation responses, particularly relating to comments (referred to as "votes" by concerned residents) on the site selection process at the informal stage of plan preparation up to the summer of 2015. At my request, the Parish Council agreed to investigate the situation regarding site selection and public consultation.
- 81. Residents who formed the Marton Road Working Group (MRWG) articulated particular concerns in relation to the allocation of the Marton Road site ref G2/4, land west of Walton Close. The Parish Council agreed to undertake a review of the concerns raised by the group with regard to the Marton Road site and the procedure for its selection. The Parish also responded to a "freedom of information" request from MRWG to inspect its records of the public consultation responses to site selection.
- 82. The Parish Council held a meeting on the 14.12.18 to review these concerns and forwarded the minutes to myself.
- 83.It was accepted by the Parish Council that table 3 (page 39) in the Plan may not be a fully accurate reflection of informal consultation responses i.e. prior to the regulation 14 stages but that was an "honest mistake". The Parish Council had a reexamination of the returns in relation to the informal consultation responses in May/June 2015 to the Marton Road site. Current members of the Parish Council who were not members at the time and had no involvement with the Plan carried this out. The revised figures were 36 in support of and 9 objections to the Marton Road site (ref: G2/4) compared to the initial figure reported in table 3 of the Plan, of 42 in support and 2 objections. The Parish also submitted the "Minutes of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan Working Group dated Wednesday 24 June 2015" which indicate the responses to this site (then referenced G2/10) was 39 support and 12 opposed.
- 84. There are clearly some discrepancies but I do not consider these are materially different to undermine the credibility of the consultation process on site selection.

85. The Consultation Statement analysis of the informal stages of consultation provides a summary of the main issues and concerns in public responses to the Plan in process. In accordance with the regulations <sup>13</sup> a summary is provided in Appendix 1 to the Consultation Statement rather than precise tabulation. The use of a summary is particularly appropriate to the informal stages as opposed to the formal consultation stage.

86.In this case, whilst there is some variation in the figures produced by the Parish it is a relatively small deviation. I do not consider that the precise tabulation of the numbers of residents (or 'votes') either supporting or objecting to sites at the informal stages of Plan preparation is necessary to demonstrate adequate transparency or justify site selection. There have been concerns that not all Parish Council meetings were minuted. However, the Parish Council asserts that the important formal meetings of relevance to the Plan are minuted. I consider, regardless of concerns about the minutes, the submitted Plan documentation explains that the process allowed adequate proportionate public involvement in site selection and the Plan process in general. The fact that some minutes were not available during plan formulation is regrettable but given the availability of other information not detrimental to fairness in my view.

87. There was ample further opportunity for the public to make comment at the regulation 14 and 16 stages, and the Parish Council informs me, these public responses have been properly represented in the Plan documents. The Council has further confirmed that all the regulation 16 consultation period consultations have been forwarded to myself. I have only received allegations rather than firm evidence that the responses to the formal consultation have not been referred to in the Consultation Statement. Even if the claims of mis-representation at the informal stages are correct, on the basis of the evidence, I do not consider they are material in terms of the ultimate outcome, on account of the subsequent opportunities at the formal consultation and referendum stages.

88.I have assessed the Consultation Statement and the regulation 16 responses and am satisfied that the comments received have been properly taken into account. The different referencing of the sites at stages of the consultation process appears to have created an element of confusion but this is not of overriding significance to the fair consideration of the sites in my view.

89.I have recommended that Table 3 in the Plan be modified as a result of the apparent errors in representing the informal stage responses. In response to concerns from Mr. Adams, I do not consider that including those who supported all the proposed sites at the regulation 14 stage as supporting "votes" in relation to the individual sites is prejudicial to the process. Furthermore, it is not necessary to produce the precise figures for representations on sites in the Plan itself and these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Regulation 15 of the Town and Country Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as amended.

are better located as an appendix to the Consultation Statement where there is a detailed reference to the public consultation response.

- 90. The submitted Consultation Statement in paragraph 2.1 includes an electronic link to the informal consultation responses but this does not appear to work correctly. I explored this with the Parish Council and it forwarded to me the document (via a new link) of the 2014 consultation responses to which this link refers. This new link should be inserted and the document summarising the consultation outcome added as an appendix to the Consultation Statement.
- 91. The Marton Road Working Group (MRWG), which was the primary source of these concerns highlighted that a highway analysis of the inadequacies of the capacity of Marton Road was not factored into the regulation 14-stage analysis. The Parish Council subsequently pointed to its reference in the table 4.2 of the Consultation Statement as part of the Johnson Brook comments on pages 23 and 25-31. I am satisfied that this was received and considered. I note that there are no objections to the allocation of this site by the County Council Highway Authority.
- 92.Following a freedom of information request relating to consultation response records, the MRWG submitted its response via an email attachment on the 3/1/19 and reiterated and added concerns. My reaction to these are largely covered above, however, I wish to make the following further comments in relation to the fairness of the process. I do not accept that the absence of documentation and records of response to the early stages of the informal consultation is significant as, again, this is an informal preparatory stage of the process followed by ample opportunity for public comment. I consider the "Call for Sites" approach to scoring and recommending sites and the subsequent analysis by the Parish to be based on sound criteria as explained above in paragraphs 76 to 78. Whilst the regulation 14 consultation revealed a majority opposing the Marton Road site, I consider that the response to the comments on the site in the tables 4.1 and 4.2 of the Consultation Statement explain adequately the reasons it is appropriate for allocation despite the objections. I can find nothing in this statement, which alters my conclusions above that on the whole the process has been adequate and fair.
- 93.1 am satisfied that the site selection was based on a rigorous and fair process.

#### Analysis of the Policy

- 94. The total proposed housing numbers is 61 but this is to be supplemented by the site allocated as part of policy G4 relating to Extra Care Housing which is examined in detail below. I am content that with the addition of this site the housing numbers allocated is in conformity with strategic policies. I note the Council has not objected to the policy in terms of it meeting the strategic housing target and identified needs.
- 95. The policy is formatted in a manner that contains maps of the locations of the sites and guidance regarding the appropriate design and layout for each site. This guidance is valuable but it is worded rather flexibly in some cases and could be

confusing. This could be avoided with an acknowledgement in the policy that this is "guidance" reflecting its flexibility, rather than absolute requirements, which will be taken into account in considering proposals for development on the respective sites.

96.During the examination, I queried that the proposed allocations at Land to the east of West Street ref; G2/1 and Paddock at Knowles House ref G2/3 did not appear to show access to a public highway and were therefore effectively not deliverable. The Parish Council subsequently confirmed that it was not possible to demonstrate that such access to either of these sites could be achieved. It is therefore necessary that these allocations be deleted as the NPPF<sup>14</sup> requires Plans to be deliverable.

97.In the light of this I sought the views of the District Council in terms of the need to meet the objectively assessed housing needs in the area. It confirmed that if site GA009 (land at Eshton Road for extra care homes) was allocated in the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan the total potential yield from sites GA009, G2/2 & G2/4 would be 118 dwellings, which is two dwellings more than the gross residual housing requirement for allocation in Gargrave of 116 dwellings. If, however there was any shortfall, the Council considered that, based on past trends of the net gain of dwellings on small sites below 5 dwellings in Gargrave, the shortfall could be addressed through the allowance made in the Craven Local Plan relating to small sites and dwellings in the open countryside.

98.I confirm below in the assessment of Policy G4 that site GA009 should be allocated and I concur with the Council's view that the housing target can be met despite the deletion of the two sites (Ref: G2/1 and G2/3).

99. There are references in the policy and table 3 relating to each site of the potential capacity for the number of dwellings. This should also not be taken as an absolute requirement for reasons of flexibility and to avoid confusion. Other design policies and national guidance regarding the efficient use of land can be invoked if necessary if it is considered a proposal represents over or under development.

100. The specific requirement for open space to be integrated in the design of the site G2/4 would be given the requisite clarity regarding the extent of the open space, if there was a cross reference to the Local Plan policy SCR2 "Provision in Recreation Space in New Housing Developments" and any subsequent policy relating to open space provision.

101.In conclusion, I am satisfied that the policy meets basic conditions.

Comments on objections to this policy as part of the formal public consultation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Paragraph 173 of the NPPF

102. There are representations regarding some sites proposed as local green space under policy G10 where it is submitted the sites are more suitable as a residential allocation. I have considered these below under policy G10, below.

103.Mark Johnson of Johnson Mowat, Planning Consultants supports residential allocation of the land east of the cricket pitch, Skipton Road (site GA025). He states that the main reason for not selecting it in this Plan was that the majority of the site was considered to be in a high flood risk area (Zone 3) but the Environment Agency has now accepted recent flood-modelling work carried out by a potential developer and confirmed the site is at the lowest risk of flooding (zone 1). I enquired of the Council who confirmed that a recent application to develop the site was refused on the basis it was outside of the settlement limits defined by the adopted Local Plan but not on flood risk grounds. The EA had no objection to this application provided that the development was built in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).

104. The Council has confirmed that at the time of the site selection process relating to the emerging Local Plan, the majority of the site (ref: GA025) was located within the high risk EA flood zone 3, therefore, given this constraint and sequential testing of all potential allocations in Gargrave, it was not considered for allocation in the emerging Local Plan. The Environment Agency has stated the flood maps are the subject of a potential update this year but the Council has confirmed that this has not yet happened and the current (Dec 2018) flood risk map relating to this site has not changed and it is still in a high flood risk area. The Council further emphasizes in an email of 10/12/18, received during the examination, that the Local Plan site selection is based on the Plan's Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and not individual site assessments.

105. The Kirkwells "Call for Sites Assessment Report" states the site relates quite well to the settlement and development on that part not susceptible to flooding would be appropriate. However, this Plan's site selection process concludes with a statement in the Plan supporting text that the site is not, on full analysis, acceptable as it is technically in a high risk flood area, does not adjoin the built—up area and is in open countryside. I note also that the Council in its assessment relating to the Local Plan states the site is an open site, adjacent to a scenic part of the canal and is not attached to any existing residential or employment development in the village.

106.I agree on the basis of my site visit with the evidence that the site is relatively separate from the main built-up area due to separation from it by the cricket and football pitches.

107. The recent Environment Agency view of the flood risk status of the site has not been considered as part of the emerging Local Plan examination. It is not necessary for this Plan to generally conform to the emerging Craven Local Plan, but it is at a relatively late stage in the process and the evidence relating to it is relevant. The emerging Craven Local Planconsiders the site to be unacceptable compared to other sites on account of the current formal technical flood risk status. Flood mitigation

works would have to be carried out on the site to allow for its full development. The NPPF requires that a sequential approach be adopted towards development such that sites of lower risk flooding potential are given priority. This guidance is relevant here where there is a higher risk of flooding than sites proposed for allocation. I also agree on the basis of my site visit with the view that the site is not well related to the built form of the village

108.I conclude therefore that the Plan site selection process and evidence relating to it are sufficiently robust<sup>15</sup> in terms of national guidance to justify that the site is not selected for residential allocation. Furthermore, the site is not suitable for development in terms of the sequential approach, which in accordance with national guidance should be applied to the allocation of sites in relation to flood risk.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 3**

In the Consultation Statement paragraph 2.1 delete the electronic link to the "Results of Feedback Forms" to the consultation in the summer of the 2014. Insert the document to which this refers i.e. included in the link sent to the examiner by email on the 20.12.18, as an appendix to the Consultation Statement and include an appropriate reference in the paragraph 2.1.

Alter the opening paragraph of the Policy G2 as follows: "The following sites are identified for new housing development up to 2032. The following guidance will be taken into account in the consideration of planning applications for the development of the sites:"

In the policy text insert the word "indicative" before the reference to "capacity" or "Potential Capacity",

Delete all text and maps relating to allocations ref G2/1 land to east of West Street and Paddock at Knowles House ref: G2/3. Amend Map 1 as appropriate and delete the references in the supporting text paragraph 6.1.8 to these sites.

Add the following bullet points to paragraph 6.1.15;

 Site GA003 (OptionG2/1) land to the east of West Street has no proven access to an adopted highway

<sup>15</sup> See NPPG Paragraphs: 013 Reference ID: 12-013-2070728 and Paragraph: 040 Reference ID: 41-040-20160211

 Site GA010 (Option G2/3) Paddock at Knowles House has no proven access to an adopted highway

In criterion 5 relating to site G2/4 land west of Walton Close add to the sentence "and of a size in accordance with Local Plan policy SCR2 "Provision in Recreation Space in New Housing Developments" or any subsequent local plan policy, which may supersede it."

Delete table 3 on page 39. Include the amended table 3 submitted by the Parish Council to the examiner on the 17<sup>th</sup> December 2018 in the Consultation Statement as a further appendix 3. Amend the title of it to "Table summarising representations to the selected sites". Introduce a new paragraph after 4.6 in the Consultation Statement, which states "The table in appendix 3 is a summary of the responses to the informal and formal public consultation stage under regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (General regulations) 2012, as amended.

POLICY G3 Ensuring an Appropriate Range of Tenures, Types and Sizes of Housing

109. This policy reflects national guidance and strategic policies, which seek to ensure the type of housing provided matches the identified housing needs of the area. The policy, however, requires reference to the latest available housing needs survey i.e. SHMA as a guide to determining housing mix both for market and affordable housing. The exclusion of 1 and 2 dwelling unit sites from these requirements subject to monitoring is acceptable as such sites offer less flexibility. However, this element of the policy should be framed with greater clarity.

110. The policy also refers to affordable housing and in these respects meets national guidance and is in conformity with strategic policies including the evidence relating to the emerging local plan.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 4**

Amend the third paragraph of the policy as follows;

"Housing mix across all tenures shall be determined with reference to the latest housing needs data with an appropriate mix of 1,2,3 and 4 bedroom or more dwelling units. On sites of one and two dwellings the contribution such sites make to housing variety and mix will be considered separately to other scales of development but their contribution will be monitored and included in these policy requirements, if there is evidence to justify it."

POLICY G4 Supporting Care Home Provision in Gargrave

111. The policy title includes the term "care home" and there is reference to it in this manner within the policy wording. However, the supporting text refers to extra care housing which is a more flexible term relating to a broader provision and extent of

care housing not just direct care in a home(s) as described by Class C2 Residential Institutions<sup>16</sup>. The concept of extra care housing as described in the County Council's "2020 North Yorkshire Care and Support Where I Live Strategy (2015)" is providing different levels of care to people in their own homes, rather than in in institutional accommodation.

112.A site has not been specifically allocated in the Plan but a potential site identified and the settlement boundary adjusted to allow its development. This site, south of Eshton Road ref: GA009 Eshton Road, has also been identified in the emerging Local Plan as a potential site to provide extra care housing as part of fulfilling the need in Gargrave, identified in the County Council's Strategy referred to in the previous paragraph.

113. The Neighbourhood Plan "Call for Sites Assessment" expressed some reservations that the site is partly subject to flooding, poorly related to the village, important to the setting of the village and views of the national park and the canal, which is a key amenity corridor. It scored 13<sup>th</sup> out of 21 sites in the Assessment but has been selected as part of the Local Plan Site Selection Process. However, the Parish Council is prepared to adhere to the Local Plan site selection outcome in the interests of meeting the County Council's Strategy.

114.I am concerned that the site is identified as contributing towards meeting the housing targets for the Plan area but is not allocated. The Plan needs to establish certainty that it can deliver to meet the latest housing targets, which identify a need for 116 dwellings.

115. The site has been subject to a site selection procedure and identified in the emerging Local Plan as a housing site. I am satisfied that the rigorous process undertaken to select the site for the Local Plan also supports an allocation in the Neighbourhood Plan. The allocation is clearly in accordance with the latest evidence relating to the emerging Local Plan to respond to an identified need for this type of accommodation, which will contribute to meeting housing targets. The site is of a scale, which the evidence of the Local Plan indicates can accommodate approximately 60 extra care dwelling units and there is no evidence that there is an alternative preferred option identified in the site selection process, both in the Local Plan and this Plan.

116.During the examination the Council confirmed that it has no objections to the allocation of the site in this Plan. Furthermore there have been no overriding objections to the settlement boundary or policy G4 in the public consultation relating to the Neighbourhood Plan. It is made clear in the final submitted version of the Plan that the Parish Council wish to promote this site for extra care accommodation by inclusion of this site within the settlement boundary. The site is marked clearly on the map 1 as a site proposed for allocation for housing in the emerging Local Plan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> As described in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes Order) 1987, as amended.

117.It is clear that the intention of the Plan as it has gone through the final stages of public participation is that the site should be for housing. Whilst there have been objections to the site selection process in the final (regulation 16) consultation on the Neighbourhood Plan from developers promoting alternative sites, I consider these are not sufficient to override the choice, based on the evidence, to allow for development of this site.

118.I recommend therefore that this site be allocated to provide for housing, which includes extra care housing in Class C3 as defined by the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as amended. The site is in the ownership of the County Council, which is responsible for the care and support strategy and there is a strategic need identified for extra care housing in Gargrave, identified in the "Care and Support Here I Live Strategy". The supporting text and policy guidance can explain that the preference is for extra care housing. No further design guidelines can be specified at this stage, as these have not effectively been through public participation. However, I consider given other national guidance and strategic policies including those in this Plan then this will not be problematic in securing a satisfactory design.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 5**

Delete the proposed policy text for policy G4.

Replace the policy title and text as follows:

"Policy G4 Extra Care Housing in Gargrave

The following site is identified for housing development, including extra care housing:

• Site Allocation G4/1 land south of Eshton Road

Area: 3.759 ha.

**Indicative Capacity 60 dwelling units** 

Include the site on map 1 as a Site Allocation for New Housing. Add a map of the site to policy G4 in the same format as the sites allocated in policy G2. The site boundary shall be the same as that shown on map 1.

Include the following after the map as policy text;

"The site has been identified as particularly suitable to meet the identified need for extra care housing in the Plan area to provide approximately 60 extra care residential units."

Amend paragraph 6.1.16 as follows;

"Delete the fifth sentence in this paragraph.

Amend paragraph 6.1.28 as follows;

#### At the start of the first sentence insert:

"The residential site selection process in....". Delete the last sentence in the paragraph.

#### POLICY G5 Tourism and Business Development

- 119. The policy is seeking to promote tourism and business development at a scale and intensity appropriate to the rural setting of the village and immediate area. In these respects the basic principle is in conformity with the saved Local Plan policies but the detail is not.
- 120.Local Plan Policy EMP5. "New employment development outside development limits and established industrial areas (excluding conversions)", establishes a presumption against new buildings for these uses outside of settlement development limits. It allows new buildings exceptionally if a case can be made that it is essential to the socio-economic needs of the area and subject to certain criteria, mainly relating to protecting the environment and satisfactory design. The draft Plan policy does not refer to the need to limit development to the "development limits" i.e. settlement boundary and has no distinction between the village and the outlying rural area. The policy is therefore not in conformity with this strategic policy.
- 121. The policy also is confusing in that the first phrase is effectively repeated in the following criteria.
- 122. The Criterion 4 is vague in requiring that it enhances and complements the existing important tourist industry. It would be difficult to determine whether a proposal complemented the existing tourist industry and the objective of this criterion is not clear. It militates against new forms of tourism. This criterion also contains the imprecise phrase "rural feel".
- 123. The last paragraph in the policy is also not clear in the circumstances in which priority may be given to change of use of buildings. This would only seem possible where there was scope to convert a building rather than erect a new building.
- 124. The supporting text to the policy does not refer to a number of relevant saved Craven Local Plan policies relating to Employment and Tourism and also omits reference to similar national park Local Plan policies.
- 125.In view of the extent of divergence from the adopted Local Plan policy and the modifications required, it is not possible to modify the proposed Plan policy without totally re-drafting it, which is not the role of the examiner.
- 126.It is nevertheless important that the Plan cross—refers to the Local Plan policies seeking to promote these activities. I have therefore recommended modifications as appropriate to delete the policy text but retain supporting text as amended. Most of the proposed supporting text provides a valuable local focus for the application of the local plan policy to the Plan area.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 6**

Delete the policy G5 text but retain all the supporting text.

Add the following paragraphs after 6.2.5;

"The existing adopted Local Plan policies aim to promote business and tourism development in an environmentally sensitive manner. Only in exceptional cases are new buildings allowed outside the village development limits but change of use of buildings is supported in most cases. The policies also support sustainable tourism. This is consistent with the overriding local opinion conveyed by the consultation on this Plan.

This Plan fully supports the existing saved Local Plan policies and National Park Local Plan relating to employment, as listed below."

Under the title heading "Local Planning Policies" insert the following extra policies under the Adopted Craven Local Plan column.

# "Employment Development

EMP4. Employment Development within Development Limits and Established Industrial

**Areas** 

EMP5. New Employment Development outside Development Limits and Established Industrial Areas (Excluding Conversions)

EMP6. Extensions to Existing Employment Uses

EMP7. Change of Use from Industrial to Non-Industrial

EMP8. Conversion of Buildings to Employment Use

EMP9. Conversion of Buildings to Employment Generating Uses with Ancillary Living Accommodation

## **Tourism and Tourist Development**

**EMP10. Tourist Attractions** 

**EMP11. Tourist Development Opportunity Sites** 

EMP14. Rural Buildings for Tourism Related Use

**EMP15. Camping Barns** 

**EMP16. Static Caravans and Chalets** 

**EMP17. Camping and Touring Caravan Sites** 

EMP18. Permanent Buildings on Camping, Caravanning and Chalet

**Developments** 

EMP19. Occupancy Conditions "

Add the following to the Yorkshire Dales National Park Local Plan column.

"BE1 Business development sites

**BE2** Business development sites

**BE3** Business development sites

**BE4** Business development sites

**BE5** Business development sites

**BE6** Business development sites

BE7 Business development sites

T1 Camping

T2 Touring caravan sites

T3 Sustainable self catering visitor accommodation

T5 Indoor visitor facilities "

POLICY G6 Protecting Local Heritage Assets

127. This policy follows the principles in the NPPF but it does not cover various nuances. For example the need to consider "public benefit" in certain exceptional cases<sup>17</sup>, which may take precedence over heritage concerns. Furthermore, the difference in policy approach for non-designated heritage assets<sup>18</sup> referred to in paragraph 135 is not emphasised. This should be remedied with a cross-reference to the NPPF in the policy.

# **RECOMMENDATION 7**

## Renumber the policy

At the end of the first sentence in the policy text add; "in accordance with guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework."

In paragraph 6.3.2 delete "of the river".

POLICY G7 Development in the Conservation Area

128. The policy is in accordance with national guidance and conforms to strategic policies in the relevant Local Plans.

129.It is a valuable addition to statutory policy to include reference to the Draft Conservation Area Appraisal. However, the policy text only refers to the need to respect height and scale in the two 'Character Areas" which implies other heritage assets identified in the Draft Appraisal such as open-spaces, trees, canal area and important views have lesser significance. This should be remedied by a general reference to all aspects of the Draft Appraisal.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 8**

Renumber the policy.

4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Paragraphs 133 and 134 of the NPPF

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Paragraph135 of the NPPF

Add a further sentence to the end of the first paragraph in the policy text as follows;

"The Draft Gargrave Conservation Area Appraisal, 2016 (or subsequent final versions) will be a relevant factor in determining the distinctive local character."

The key to map 7 was difficult to read in my hard copy of the Plan. This should be reformatted to make it clearer.

## POLICY G8 Promoting High Quality Design

130. This policy is in accordance with the NPPF and strategic policies in seeking to reinforce local distinctiveness and design, which is appropriate to a rural area close to a national park.

131. Some alterations are required to the policy text to make it clearer and easier to implement.

132.Criterion 2-The reference that "schemes must not feature designs specific to a generic scheme" may provoke contention as to what constitutes a "generic" scheme. The term "must" is too prescriptive and contrary to advice in the NPPF. The term "should" is less prescriptive but still retains the requisite degree of clarity. The term "must", should be replaced in all the criteria.

133. Criterion 3 –It is unreasonable to require extensions shall all be small scale without reference to the host building.

## **RECOMMENDATION 9**

Renumber the policy.

In all criteria replace all "must" references with "should."

Criterion 2 – Amend the last sentence as follows:

"Design and Access Statements should demonstrate how proposals take account of the locally distinctive character of the area."

Criterion 3 – Amend as follows:

"Extensions shall be subordinate in scale to the original building."

Criterion 4 – Replace all "must" references with "should."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Paragraph 59 of the NPPF

# POLICY G9 Planning Out Crime

134. This policy is based on national guidance<sup>20</sup>, which advocates a role for planning in designing out crime.

135. The policy includes a statement that the Police representative for designing out crime should be consulted. This is a matter of planning application process, which is not appropriate for inclusion in a policy. This can however be included in the supporting text.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 10**

Renumber the policy.

In policy G9 delete the last sentence and add it as the last sentence to paragraph 6.3.14.

## POLICY G10 Local Green Spaces

136. This policy is properly evidenced with clear reference to the criteria in the NPPF regarding green space allocation. Table 4 highlights the attributes of the local green spaces and confirms their selection for this designation in the Plan.

137. The policy should refer to the criteria, which will be applied to them in the face of development proposals. The NPPF<sup>21</sup> states that these spaces will be afforded the same protection as sites in the green belt.

138.On the map there is an area shaded green to the west of Mark House Lane, which is not designated as local green space according to the description of area 8. These areas are the same colour, which is confusing. The map should be amended to show more colour difference for these areas.

139. There is a representation from WBW, Chartered Surveyors on behalf of a client, about the inclusion of site 5 "Field and part of field north of Church Close farm, off Marton Road" and site 6 "Fields west of the old School House/Cottage" as local green spaces. It is submitted that these two sites are more suited to housing as they are in a more sustainable position than sites allocated for housing, as a result of their close proximity to infrastructure in the centre of the village and more favourable pedestrian links.

140.I deal with the site selection process above in relation to policies G2 and G4 but in terms of local green space, the Plan states site 5 is valued for its affording of long distant views of the listed St Andrews Church, the Pennine Way and its contribution to the setting of the scheduled monument, the moated site west of Paget Hall.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Paragraph 69 of the NPPF

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Paragraph 77 of the NPPF

Similarly, it is submitted site 6 contributes to the setting of the moat and the adjacent Pennine Way.

141.I note that both these sites are at a strategic point in the Conservation Area identified in the Conservation Area Appraisal as making a strong contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Also, they are identified as containing two views (MF5 and MF6) classed as moderately significant. The importance of these views is further emphasised in policy G13 in this Plan, which classes them as "significant" and worthy of protection and enhancement.

142.I consider this evidence supports the designation of these sites as local green space in terms of the NPPF criteria, particularly as a result of their value to the Conservation Area and the scheduled monument. This overrides the claim that they should be allocated for housing in my view.

143.An objection was received from Mr. Clark regarding the designation of site 7 "Smaller linear pasture bounded by Church Street, Church Lane and Riverside". A number of points are advanced suggesting the site is inappropriate as local green space and should be a residential allocation. Mr. Clark questions the validity of the Parish Council's Local Green Space Assessment and proposes an alternative scoring for the site in terms of the site selection criteria applied to residential development in the "Call for Sites Assessment Report", 2015. He further demonstrates support by the community at the informal consultation stage for designation of the site as an infill residential allocation.

144. However this site was allocated as an "important open space" in the Local Plan but this was under policy BE1, which was not saved in 2007. Nevertheless, I consider this gives weight to the value of the site as open space on the basis of the previous affirmation. I note further that an appeal ref: APP/C2708/A/14/2228873 in January2015 relating to a dwelling on part of the site was dismissed and reference was made in the decision to the importance of the Local Plan designation.

145.Mr. Clark advances evidence to seek to demonstrate that in terms of the NPPF criteria the site is not appropriate as local green space. He states no attempt is made to demonstrate why it is visually important and points out that it is enclosed by residential properties and there are limited views of it. The Local Green Space Assessment document, supporting the Plan, however, does demonstrate this satisfactorily in my view and, following my site visit, I concur with this evidence.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 11**

Renumber the policy.

In the policy add a further paragraph in between point 8 and the map as follows:

"Development will not be allowed in these local green spaces unless it is ancillary to the use of the local green space and does not diminish its

character as a local green space or it is demonstrated there are very special circumstances in which to make an exception."

Map 8 should be amended to show more colour difference for the area to the west of Mark House Lane than that shown to illustrate the local green spaces.

## POLICY G11 Protecting and Enhancing Local Recreational Facilities

146. This policy seeks to protect recreational facilities and is in accordance with the advice in the NPPF<sup>22</sup> that states sites of recreational value can be afforded the same protection as local green spaces. Whilst no specific justification is advanced for the proposed sites, my site visit revealed all are available and accessible to the community.

147. The policy allows the requisite flexibility for facilities to be improved and removed if they are no longer viable.

148. The facilities referred to are however not identified on a map, which I consider should be remedied in the interests of clarity.

149. The policy should be amended to relate generally to loss of facilities whether by change of use or re-development with new buildings in non-recreation uses.

150.In point 2 in the policy there is reference to the need for Parish Council approval for demonstration that there is no longer the need for a facility. The authority for this decision is the District Council's in the determination of planning applications.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 12**

Renumber the policy.

Include a map showing the location of the recreational facilities to be protected.

Subsequent maps (Map 9 & Map 10) within the document will require renumbering to Map 10 & Map 11. Any references to these to renumbered maps within the NP text will require amendment.

In the second paragraph delete "change of use" and insert "loss".

In point 2 delete "Parish" and insert "District".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Paragraph 77 of the NPPF

POLICY G12 Protecting and Enhancing the Rural Landscape Setting and Wildlife of Gargrave

151. The policy is based on national guidance and local strategic policy to protect the landscape. The supporting text provides a valuable overview of the relevant landscape appraisals and projects.

152. The policy, in points 1 and 2 however specifies protection of the floodplain and open countryside to the north, which excludes consideration of impact in other areas. The policy should be worded more generally to offer landscape protection in accordance with any advice in landscape appraisals. In that context reference can be made to particular sensitive areas such as the National Park, Leeds Liverpool Canal and the Pennine Way.

153. The reference to flooding in point 1 is inaccurate as guidance in the NPPF<sup>23</sup> states some development is acceptable in flood zone 3. The reference to flooding in this policy should be deleted.

154. Point 4 is valid but needs to be expanded to allow scope for habitat creation in other areas to satisfy national guidance in promoting net gains in biodiversity.<sup>24</sup>

155. The policy on soil protection should reference the national guidance in the NPPF<sup>25</sup> to protect the most versatile agricultural land.

156. The need to protect the landscape character of the national park is a statutory duty under national park purposes established in the Environment Act 1995. This should be referenced in the policy.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 13**

## Renumber the policy.

Delete points 1 and 2 from the policy and replace with the following; "1.Development proposals outside the settlement boundary should respect, safeguard, and wherever possible, restore or enhance the landscape character of the area. Proposals should have regard to the Craven District Landscape Appraisal, 2002, (or successor documents) and specifically to the different landscape character types that are identified in the plan area. Regard should also be had to the North Yorkshire and York Landscape Characterisation Project (2011) (or successor documents). Proposals will show how they respond to the particular character type they are located within.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Paragraph 100 of the NPPF

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Paragraph 109 of the NPPF

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Paragraph 112 of the NPPF

2.Views towards and from the Yorkshire Dales National Park and the key amenity corridors of the Leeds Liverpool Canal and the Pennine Way are particular areas of landscape, which should be protected from intrusive development."

Alter Point 4 as follows; After "creation" insert "particularly"

In the policy regarding Soils in the last sentence after "fertile" insert "versatile".

In the supporting text add a further sentence to the end of paragraph 6.3.28 as follows:

"Furthermore, proposals will be assessed in relation to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which encourages protection of the most versatile agricultural land."

Under the heading Yorkshire Dales National Park delete the first sentence and insert the following;

"In the national park proposals will be considered in relation to the statutory duty under the Environment Act 1995 to conserve and enhance the landscape character of the national park."

# POLICY G13 Significant Views

157. The policy is properly evidenced in replicating the Conservation Area Appraisal and accords with national guidance and strategic policies concerned to protect the Conservation Area and its setting.

158. The title of the policy should be altered to reflect that it relates to the conservation area and setting in the interests of clarity.

159. The policy should be worded in a more flexible manner. The term "should not obstruct" may be difficult to interpret and should be replaced with a more informative phrase to illustrate what type of development may be acceptable.

160.It is important in the interests of clarity that these views are depicted on a map as part of this Plan.

## **RECOMMENDATION 14**

Renumber the policy.

Amend the title of the policy by adding "in the Conservation Area and its setting".

Delete the first sentence in paragraph 2 of the policy and replace with the following;

"Development should not be intrusive and block the visual appreciation of the Conservation Area or its setting."

Reference to Map 8 requires correction to Map 7.

POLICY G14 Supporting Improvements to Accessibility

161. The policy accords with national guidance promoting sustainable transport.

162. The copying of the map and sections of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal Towpath Access Development Plan was rather blurred in my copy and difficult to read. In the interests of clarity the presentation of this extract should be improved to the same standard as the rest of the Plan's text.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 15**

Renumber the policy.

The presentation of the extract from the Leeds and Liverpool Canal Towpath Access Development Plan should be improved to the same standard as the rest of the Plan's text. If this is not possible retain the extract but include a reference at the end of paragraph 6.4.2 to the document and page on which it is located.

POLICY G15 Development in Areas of Flood Risk from Water Courses and Surface Water

163. This policy is not in accordance with national guidance as it states only development in low risk flood areas will be acceptable. The National Planning Policy Framework states<sup>26</sup> "Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere". It is not therefore possible in every case to refuse applications for development within Flood Zone 2 and 3 however additional justifications are required through the application of the Sequential and Exception tests if necessary.

164. The supporting text adequately summarises the national guidance on flood risk and the policy should be removed.

165. The text in paragraph 6.4.9 indicates the Saw Mill site is an allocated site when it was just a "potential allocation". This reference should be removed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Paragraph 100 of the NPPF

## **RECOMMENDATION 16**

**Delete Policy G15.** 

In paragraph 6.4.9 delete all the text in brackets relating to the Saw Mill site

## POLICY G16 Design for Flood Resilience and Resistance

166. The policy requires flood mitigation measures in all new developments, which is contrary to national guidance. It is only appropriate to require flood mitigation in areas of flood risk i.e. flood zones 2 and 3. In areas of low risk flooding including flood zone 1, no mitigation measures should be required other than typical drainage design standards.

167. The policy should not be worded in absolute terms to allow for flexibility in the type of flood mitigation suitable for different sites and proposals and conform to advice in the NPPF<sup>27</sup> not to stifle innovation.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 17**

# Renumber the policy

Replace the first paragraph of the policy with the following; "Developments which are allowed within Flood Zone 2 and 3 should ensure appropriate flood mitigation measures are implemented, particularly the following"

Include the remainder of the policy as written.

POLICY G17 Design to Reduce Surface Water Run Off

168. The text of the policy is too prescriptive and does not allow for enough flexibility to provide different solutions and site scenarios. The use of "must" should be removed.

### **RECOMMENDATION 18**

## Renumber the policy

Replace all references in the policy to "must" with "should".

**SUMMARY** 

169.I have completed an independent examination of the Neighbourhood

Gargrave NDP Examination Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Paragraph 60 of the NPPF

## Development Plan.

- 170. The Parish Council has carried out an appropriate level of consultation and shown how it has responded to the comments it has received. I have taken into account the further comments received as part of the consultation under Regulations 14 and 16 on the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012. I have also considered certain representations made during the examination relating to the fairness of the residential site selection process.
- 171.I have recommended modifications to the policies in order to satisfy the basic conditions particularly to ensure that they provide a clear basis for decision-making in accordance with the NPPF and local development plan policies.
- 172. Subject to these modifications, I am satisfied that the plan meets the Basic Conditions, as follows:
- a) has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State,
- b) the making of the plan contributes to sustainable development,
- c) the making of the plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority,
- d) the making of the plan does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations and human rights requirements,
- e) the making of the plan is not likely to have a significant effect on a European site (as defined in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2012, as amended by the 2018 Regulations)
- 173. I am also satisfied that the Plan meets the procedural requirements of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
- 174. I am required to consider whether the referendum area should extend beyond the Neighbourhood Plan area and if it is to be extended, the nature of that extension.
- 175. There is no evidence to suggest that the referendum area should extend beyond the boundaries of the plan area, as they are currently defined.
- 176.I recommend that the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a referendum based on the neighbourhood area authorised by the Craven District Council.
- 177. I am therefore pleased to recommend that the Gargrave Neighbourhood Development Plan as modified by my recommendations should proceed to a referendum.

### APPENDIX 1

Relevant email correspondence (and attachments) carried out during examination (excludes basic acknowledgements, information exchanges etc.). E mails are available from Craven District Council web site.

https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/

To R Bryan from the Council confirming it made no comments during consultation 26.10.18,

From David Feeney of the Council to R Bryan re additional information on HRA 1.11.18.

From David Feeney of the Council to R Bryan re Council's view on Eshton Rd site GA009 1.11.18,

From Council to R Bryan re Martin & Aldersely reps. 14.11.18,

From Council to R Bryan re Call for Sites Assessment Report 20.11.18,

From R Bryan to Council re resolving consultation objections 19.11.18,

From Council to R Bryan re resolving the consultation issue 20.11.18,

From R Bryan to Council re clarification request from Parish Council 20.11.18,

From the Council to R Bryan re information requested of Parish Council by R Bryan, re. consultation responses and Eshton Rd site, 27.11.18,

Email Attachment: Results & Ranking Order Sheet 23.07.15 Gargrave Parish Council.

The Council fwd. email from Parish Council to R Bryan re CA ref site GA031 27.11.18.

Email fwd. to Parish Council from R Bryan re Policy G2 27.11.18,

From R Bryan response to Aldersley re. objections 27.11.18,

From Council to R Bryan re HRA and SEA documents Gargrave NP 29.11.18,

Email Attachment: Gargrave HRA (November 2018),

Email Attachment: Gargrave SEA (November 2018),

From R Bryan response to Council email re HRA & SEA 30.11.18,

From Council to R Bryan fwd. info from Parish Council re table 3 amends 4.12.18,

Email Attachment: Table 3 Proposed Housing Sites plus reg. 14 responses,

Gargrave Parish Council

From Council to R Bryan re SEA HEA 4.12.18,

From R Bryan response to Marton Rd Working Group.(MRWG) 4.12.18,

From R Bryan to Council re additional info re access 2 site allocations 4.12.18.

From R Bryan response to MRWG re representations on site GA031 Marton Rd 5.12.18,

From Council to R Bryan re appeal decision Church Ln. Gargrave 10.12.18,

Council fwd. Parish Council LGS Ass Doc to R Bryan 10.12.18,

Email attachment: Gargrave LGS Assessment CDC Methodology May 2016 Gargrave Parish Council,

From Council, response to R Bryan flood risk GA025 10.12.18,

Email attachment: Appendix 2 - EA letter 8th March,

Email attachment: Appendix 3 - EA letter 28th March,

Email attachment: Appendix 4 - EA confirmation of FZ1,

From Parish Council to R Bryan re request about access to sites G2,1 & G2,3 10.12.18.

Email attachment: Highways response G2 1Gargrave Parish Council,

Email attachment: Highways response G2 3Gargrave Parish Council,

Response from the Council to R Bryan re. land east of cricket pitch Skipton Road (GA025),

From R Bryan to Council further questions re Table 3, 13.12.18,

From R Bryan to Council and Parish requesting response to MRWG points in its email (of 11.12.18), 13.12.18. From Council fwd. of Parish Council response to R Bryan email (13.12.18), 17.12.18,

Email attachment: Minutes GNPWG 24 June 15,

Email attachment: Results & Ranking Order Sheet 23.07.15,

Email attachment: Results & Ranking Order Sheet 23.07.15,

From Council, forwarding MRWG email of 14.12.18 to R Bryan which was mistakenly not sent, 17.12.18, Response from R Bryan, 17.12.18,

From Parish Council, Table 3 amendments, 17.12.18,

Email attachment: Table 3 Proposed Housing Sites plus reg. 14 responses V3 Email from R Bryan to Parish Council re Table 3 17.12.18 and response form Parish Council,

Email from Council to R Bryan fwd. Minutes of GPC Mtg. (14.12.18) 18.12.18,

Email attachment: Minutes of Parish Council Review Meeting 14 Dec 2018,

Email from R Bryan to CDC re GPC Minutes 18.12.18,

Email from the Council to R Bryan re questions re. Yorkshire Water consultation, 19.12.18,

Email from the Council to R Bryan re Gargrave NP Consultation with Natural England 19.12.18,

Email from MRWG to the council and R Bryan responding to minutes of Parish Council meeting of the 14.12.18.

Email attachment: MRWG comments on minutes of Parish Council meeting of 14.12.18.

Email from Parish Council re. missing minutes, 20.12.18,

Email from Jeff Adams re. fairness and openness,20.12.18 and R Bryan response of 20.12.18,

Email from Parish Council regarding electronic links and arrangements for the public to inspect Parish Council documents 20.12.18,

Email from Jeff Adams re. further concerns, 3.1.19,

Email attachment: Consultations document. Email from Jeff Adams and response from R Bryan, 9.1.19, E mail from R Bryan to MRWG, 9.1.19.



#### **Craven District Council**

# **Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan**

## Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

# The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

# **Regulation 18 Decision Statement**

#### 1. Summary

- 1.1 In line with Regulation 18 of the regulations set out above Craven District Council have produced this 'Decision Statement' in relation to the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan (the 'Plan') submitted to them by Gargrave Parish Council in May 2018.
- 1.2 The Plan sets out a vision, objectives and a number of planning policies that relate to the designated neighbourhood area. If made, it will become part of the development plan for land use and development proposals within the area until 2032.
- 1.3 Following an independent examination of written representations, Craven District Council now confirms that it is making the modifications to the Plan as set out in Table 1 below. The Plan will then proceed to a neighbourhood planning referendum.
- 1.4 In accordance with the examiner's recommendations, the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan will proceed to a referendum scheduled for Thursday 30<sup>th</sup> May 2019.
- 1.5 This Decision Statement, the independent examiner's report, the Plan and supporting documents can be inspected:
  - At Craven District Council offices at Belle Vue Square, Broughton Road, Skipton, North Yorkshire, BD23 1FJ. Opening Hours: 9.00am to 5.00pm Monday to Thursday, 9.00am to 4.30pm Friday.
  - Online via Craven District Council website at: <a href="https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/">https://www.cravendc.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/planning-for-parishes/neighbourhood-planning/gargrave/</a>
  - At Gargrave library
  - Online via Gargrave Parish Council website at: <a href="http://gargravepc.org.uk/">http://gargravepc.org.uk/</a>

## 2. Background

- 2.1 On 20<sup>th</sup> November 2013 Gargrave Parish Council submitted an application to Craven District Council for the designation of the Parish as a Neighbourhood Area. Craven District Council designated the Neighbourhood Area on 27th January 2014.
- 2.2 The Parish Council subsequently prepared the Draft Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan. Consultation on the draft neighbourhood plan was held during May 2015, between 5<sup>th</sup> Nov and 21 December 2015 and between 8<sup>th</sup> February and 21<sup>st</sup> March 2016.
- 2.3 The Submission version of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to Craven District Council in May 2018. Craven District Council held a 6 week public consultation period on the submitted Plan from 25<sup>th</sup> June to 6<sup>th</sup> August 2018, in accordance with Regulation 16.
- 2.4 An Independent Examiner was appointed in October 2018 to undertake the examination of the Submitted Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan and this was completed with the final examination report sent to both the Parish Council and District Council on 22<sup>nd</sup> January 2019.

#### 3. Decision and Reasons

- 3.1 The Examiner has concluded that, with certain modifications, the Plan meets the Basic Conditions and other relevant legal requirements.
- 3.2 Craven District Council must consider each of the recommendations made in the Examiner's report and decide what action to take in response. The Council accepts all of the modifications and the reasons put forward by the Examiner for them. Table 1, attached to this statement, sets out the Examiner's recommended modifications and the Council's decision in respect of each of them.
- 3.3 Craven District Council is therefore satisfied that, subject to the modifications specified in Table1 being made, the Draft Neighbourhood Plan meets the legal requirements and basic conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, is compatible with the Convention Rights and complies with the provision made by or under s38A and S.38B of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The Council is therefore satisfied that the Plan can proceed to referendum.
- 3.4 To meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, a referendum which poses the question "Do you want Craven District Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Gargrave to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?" will be held in the Parish of Gargrave on Thursday 30<sup>th</sup> May 2019.

This decision statement is dated 15/02/2019.

# **Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan**

Table 1 Schedule of Modifications Recommended in the Examiner's Report Relating to the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan

Section in Gargrave NP	Examiner's Recommendation	Examiner's Reasons	Planning Policy Team suggested action to be taken with reasons
	Recommendation 1: Insert a glossary as an appendix to the plan	Recommend that a Glossary is added to the Plan in the interests of clarity and an aid to readers who may not be familiar with technical terms. This should cover all the acronyms used in the document. The NPPF contains a useful glossary as a guide.	Agree to modify the text as indicated to comply with the examiner's recommendation.
6.1 Housing Policy G1: New Housing within the Settlement Boundary	Recommendation 2: Add new para after 6.1.10 as follows: "The following policy provides a cross- reference and signpost to statutory policies which will particularly relate to consideration of new housing and also includes extra criteria." Amend Policy G1 as follows: At the end of the introductory paragraph of the policy add "and conform to other statutory planning policies, including those in this Plan". Amend Criterion 1 to "The development integrates with the built form and grain of the village as required by Policy G8 1 "Promoting High Quality Design"; Amend Criterion 2 to "Sites have good accessibility and where possible connect with relevant footpaths and cycle ways";	There is some duplication with other Plan policies, which is confusing. In some cases the criteria in this policy only partially replicates the policy elsewhere in the Plan, which is clearly confusing and can be remedied by simply cross-referring to that policy.  Rewording of criteria to be more specific about what is meant and to provide further qualification.	Agree to modify the text as indicated to comply with the examiner's recommendation.

	Amend Criterion 4 to "They do not contravene Policy G10 "Local Green Space" and Policy G11 "Protecting and Enhancing Local Recreational Facilities"; Amend Criterion 5 to "They do not lead to loss of sites or buildings in B Class* employment use unless that use can be proven as unviable or unsuitable as an allocation for that use on planning grounds"; *Use a footnote to explain it is as described in the T &CP (Use Classes Order) 1987, as amended. Add to the end Criterion 6 "in accordance with national policy and Plan policies G16 and 17 (as re-numbered). In Criterion 7 after "adversely" add "on highway safety". In Criterion 8 add "which are of architectural or historic interest and in sound condition." In Criterion 9 add "and conform to Plan policy G13 "Significant Views". In Criterion 10 add "and conform to Plan policy G8 1, "Promoting High Quality Design".		
6.1 Housing Policy G2: Site Allocations	Recommendation 3: Consultation Statement para 21 - Delete electronic link to 'Results of Feedback Forms' and replace with the link sent by GPC to Examiner on 20.12.18 as an appendix to Consultation statement and	<ul> <li>a) The submitted Consultation Statement in paragraph 2.1 includes an electronic link to the informal consultation responses but this does not appear to work correctly.</li> <li>b) For clarification.</li> <li>c) The Parish Council has confirmed that it was not possible to demonstrate that such access to either of these sites could be</li> </ul>	Agree to modify the text and maps as indicated to comply with the examiner's recommendation.

include an appropriate reference in paragraph 2.1.

Alter the opening paragraph of the Policy G2 as follows:

"The following sites are identified for new housing development up to 2032. The following guidance will be taken into account in the consideration of planning applications for the development of the sites:"

In the policy text insert the word "indicative" before the reference to "capacity" or "Potential Capacity", Delete all text and maps relating to allocations ref G2/1 land to east of West Street and Paddock at Knowles House ref: G2/3. Amend Map 1 as appropriate and delete the references in the supporting text paragraph 6.1.8 to these sites. Add the following bullet points to paragraph 6.1.15;

- "• Site GA003 (OptionG2/1) land to the east of West Street has no proven access to an adopted highway.
- Site GA010 (Option G2/3) Paddock at Knowles House has no proven access to an adopted highway".

In criterion 5 relating to site G2/4 land west of Walton Close add to the sentence "and of a size in accordance with Local Plan policy SCR2 "Provision in Recreation Space in New Housing Developments" or any subsequent local plan policy, which may

- achieved. It is therefore necessary that these allocations be deleted as the NPPF requires Plans to be deliverable.
- d) For clarification.
- e) Recommendation that Table 3 in the Plan be modified as a result of the apparent errors in representing the informal stage responses.

6.1 Housing Policy G3: Ensuring an Appropriate Range of Tenures, Types and Sizes of Housing	supersede it."  Delete table 3 on pg 39 and include amended table 3 submitted by the PC to the Examiner on 17.12.18 in Consultation Statement as a further appendix 3. Amend the title of it to "Table summarising representations to the selected sites". Introduce a new paragraph after 4.6 in the Consultation Statement, which states "The table in appendix 3 is a summary of the responses to the informal and formal public consultation stage under regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (General regulations) 2012, as amended.  Recommendation 4:  Amend the third paragraph of the policy as follows; "Housing mix across all tenures shall be determined with reference to the latest housing needs data with an appropriate mix of 1,2,3 and 4 bedroom or more dwelling units. On sites of one and two dwellings the contribution such sites make to housing variety and mix will be considered separately to other scales of development but their contribution will be monitored and included in these policy requirements, if there is evidence to justify it."	To provide greater clarity	Agree to modify the text as indicated to comply with the examiner's recommendation.
6.1 Housing	Recommendation 5:	Concern that the site is identified as contributing towards	Agree to modify the
Policy G4:	Delete the proposed policy text for policy	meeting the housing targets for the Plan area but is not allocated.  The Plan needs to establish certainty that it can deliver to meet	text and maps as indicated to comply

Home Provision in	Replace the policy title and text as follows:	the latest housing targets, which identify a need for 116	with the examiner's
Gargrave	"Policy G4 Extra Care Housing in Gargrave.	dwellings.	recommendation.
	The following site is identified for housing		
	development, including extra care		
	housing:		
	• Site Allocation G4/1 land south of Eshton		
	Road		
	Area: 3.759 ha.		
	Indicative Capacity 60 dwelling units".		
	Include the site on map 1 as a Site		
	Allocation for New Housing. Add a map of		
	the site to policy G4 in the same format as		
	the sites allocated in policy G2. The site		
	boundary shall be the same as that shown		
	on map 1.		
	Include the following after the map as		
	policy text;		
	"The site has been identified as particularly		
	suitable to meet the identified need for		
	extra care housing in the Plan area to		
	provide approximately 60 extra care		
	residential units."		
	Amend paragraph 6.1.16 as follows;		
	"Delete the fifth sentence in this		
	paragraph.		
	Amend paragraph 6.1.28 as follows;		
	At the start of the first sentence insert:		
	"The residential site selection process in"		
6.2.5	Delete the last sentence in the paragraph.	The college to the conference of the conference	A
6.2 Employment	Recommendation 6:	The policy is not in conformity with strategic saved LP policy	Agree to modify the
G5: Tourism &	Delete the policy G5 but retail all the	EMP5, which establishes a presumption against new employment	text as indicated to
Business	supporting text.	development outside settlement development limits and would	comply with the
Development	Add the following paragraphs after 6.2.5;	only allow new employment development exceptionally. The	examiner's

	"The existing adopted Local Plan policies	draft NP policy does not refer to the need to limit development	recommendation.
	aim to promote business and tourism	to the settlement boundary and has no distinction between the	
	development in an environmentally	village and outlying areas. Most of the proposed supporting text	
	sensitive manner. Only in exceptional cases	provides a valuable local focus for the application of the local	
	are new buildings allowed outside the	plan policy to the Plan area.	
	village development limits but change of	The supporting text to the policy does not refer to a number of	
	use of buildings is supported in most cases.	relevant saved Craven Local Plan policies relating to Employment	
	The policies also support sustainable	and Tourism and also omits	
	tourism. This is consistent with the	reference to similar national park Local Plan policies.	
	overriding local opinion conveyed by the		
	consultation on this Plan.		
	This Plan fully supports the existing saved		
	Local Plan policies and National Park Local		
	Plan relating to employment, as listed		
	below."		
	Under the title heading "Local Planning		
	Policies" insert a number of extra strategic		
	saved adopted Craven Local Plan policies		
	under the Adopted Craven Local Plan		
	column. (See examiner's report page 27 &		
	28 for list of policies to be inserted).		
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 7:	This policy follows the principles in the NPPF but it does not cover	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	various nuances. This should be remedied with a cross-reference	text as indicated to
Green Spaces and	At the end of the first sentence in the	to the NPPF in the policy.	comply with the
Character of	policy text add "in accordance with		examiner's
Gargrave	guidance in the National Planning Policy		recommendation.
Policy G6:	Framework."		
Protecting Local	In paragraph 6.3.2 delete "of the river".		
Heritage Assets			
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 8:	The policy text only refers to the need to respect height and scale	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	in the two 'Character Areas" which implies other heritage assets	text and map as
Green Spaces and	Add following sentence to the end of the	identified in the Draft Appraisal such as open-spaces, trees, canal	indicated to comply
Character of	first paragraph in the policy text: "The	area and important views have lesser significance. This should be	with the examiner's

Gargrave	Draft Gargrave Conservation Area	remedied by a general reference to all aspects of the Draft	recommendation.
Policy G7:	Appraisal, 2016 (or subsequent final	Appraisal.	
Development in	versions) will be a relevant factor in		
the Conservation	determining the distinctive local		
Area	character."		
	Reformat key on Map 7 to make clearer.		
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 9:	Some alterations are required to the policy text to make it clearer	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	and easier to implement.	text as indicated to
Green Spaces and	Replace 'must' with 'should' in all criteria.	Criterion 2-The reference that "schemes must not feature designs	comply with the
Character of	Amend last sentence of Criterion 2 as	specific to a generic scheme" may provoke contention as to what	examiner's
Gargrave	follows: "Design and Access Statements	constitutes a "generic" scheme. The term "must" is too	recommendation.
Policy G8:	should demonstrate how proposals take	prescriptive and contrary to advice in the NPPF.19 The term	
Promoting High	account of the locally distinctive character	"should" is less prescriptive but still retains the requisite degree	
Quality Design	of the area. "	of clarity. The term "must", should be replaced in all the criteria.	
	Amend criterion 3 as follows: "Extensions	Criterion 3 –It is unreasonable to require extensions shall all be	
	shall be subordinate in scale to the original	small scale without reference to the host building.	
	building."		
	Criterion 4 – Replace all "must" references		
	with "should".		
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 10:	The policy includes a statement that the Police representative for	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	designing out crime should be consulted. This is a matter for the	text as indicated to
Green Spaces and	Delete last sentence in policy G9 and add	planning application process and is not appropriate for inclusion	comply with the
Character of	as last sentence to para 6.3.14.	in a policy. This can however be included in the supporting text.	examiner's
Gargrave			recommendation.
Policy G9: Planning			
Out Crime			
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 11:	To provide further clarity and to make the policy effective.	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.		text and map as
Green Spaces and	Add further para between point 8 and Map		indicated to comply
Character of	8 as follows: "Development will not be		with the examiner's
Gargrave	allowed in these local green spaces unless		recommendation.
Policy G10: Local	it is ancillary to the use of the local green		
Green Spaces	space and does not diminish its character		

	as a local green space or it is demonstrated		
	there are very special circumstances in		
	which to make an exception."		
	Amend Map 8 to show more of a colour		
	difference for the area to the west of Mark		
	House Lane and Local Green Space		
	designations.		
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 12:	The facilities referred to are not identified on a map and should	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	be shown on a map in the interests of clarity.	text and maps as
Green Spaces and	Include a map showing the location of the	Second para: the policy should be amended to relate generally to	indicated to comply
Character of	recreational facilities to be protected.	loss of facilities whether by change of use or re-development	with the examiner's
Gargrave	Subsequent maps (Map 9 & Map 10) within	with new buildings in non-recreation uses.	recommendation.
Policy G11:	the document will require renumbering to	In point 2 in the policy there is reference to the need for Parish	
Protecting and	Map 10 & Map 11. Any references to these	Council approval for demonstration that there is no longer the	
Enhancing Local	to renumbered maps within the NP text	need for a facility. The authority for this decision is the District	
Recreational	will require amendment.	Council's in the determination of planning applications.	
Facilities	In the second paragraph delete "change of	, , , ,	
	use" and insert "loss".		
	In point 2 delete "Parish" and insert		
	"District".		
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 13:	The policy, in points 1 and 2 specifies protection of the floodplain	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	and open countryside to the north, which excludes consideration	text as indicated to
Green Spaces and	Delete points 1 & 2 from policy and replace	of impact in other areas. The policy should be worded more	comply with the
Character of	with the following:	generally to offer landscape protection in accordance with any	examiner's
Gargrave	"1.Development proposals outside the	advice in landscape appraisals. In that context reference can be	recommendation.
Policy G12:	settlement boundary should respect,	made to particular sensitive areas such as the National Park,	
Protecting and	safeguard, and wherever possible, restore	Leeds Liverpool Canal and the Pennine Way. The reference to	
Enhancing the	or enhance the landscape character of the	flooding in point 1 is inaccurate as guidance in the NPPF states	
Rural Landscape	area. Proposals should have regard to the	some development is acceptable in flood zone 3. The reference	
Setting and	Craven District Landscape Appraisal, 2002,	to flooding in this policy should be deleted.	
Wildlife of	(or successor documents) and specifically	Point 4 is valid but needs to be expanded to allow scope for	
Gargrave	to the different landscape character types	habitat creation in other areas to satisfy national guidance in	
	that are identified in the plan area. Regard	promoting net gains in biodiversity.	

should also be had to the North Yorkshire and York Landscape Characterisation Project (2011) (or successor documents). Proposals will show how they respond to the particular character type they are located within.

2. Views towards and from the Yorkshire Dales National Park and the key amenity corridors of the Leeds Liverpool Canal and the Pennine Way are particular areas of landscape, which should be protected from intrusive development."

Alter Point 4 as follows;
After "creation" insert "particularly".

In the policy regarding Soils in the last sentence after "fertile" insert "versatile". In the supporting text add a further sentence to the end of paragraph 6.3.28 as follows; "Furthermore, proposals will be assessed in relation to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which encourages protection of the most versatile agricultural land."

Under the heading Yorkshire Dales National Park delete the first sentence and insert the following;

"In the national park proposals will be considered in relation to the statutory duty under the Environment Act 1995 to conserve and enhance the landscape The policy on soil protection should reference the national guidance in the NPPF25 to protect the most versatile agricultural land.

The need to protect the landscape character of the national park is a statutory duty under national park purposes established in the Environment Act 1995. This should be referenced in the policy.

	character of the national park."		
6.3 Protecting the	Recommendation 14:	The title of the policy should be altered to reflect that it relates to	Agree to modify the
Environment,	Renumber policy.	the conservation area and setting in the interests of clarity.	text and map as
Green Spaces and	Amend the title of the policy by adding "in	To ensure that the policy is clear what type of development may	indicated to comply
Character of	the Conservation Area and its setting".	be acceptable.	with the examiner's
Gargrave			recommendation.
Policy G13:	Delete the first sentence in paragraph 2 of		
Significant Views	the policy and replace with the following;		
	"Development should not be intrusive and		
	block the visual appreciation of the		
	Conservation Area or its setting."		
	Correct Map 8 reference to Map 7.		
6.4 Infrastructure	Recommendation 15:	In the interests of clarity the presentation of this extract should	Agree to modify the
Policy G14:	Renumber policy.	be improved to the same standard as the rest of the Plan's text.	text as indicated to
Supporting	The presentation of the extract from the		comply with the
Improvements to	Leeds and Liverpool Canal Towpath		examiner's
Accessibility	Access Development Plan should be		recommendation.
	improved to the same standard as the rest		
	of the Plan's text. If this is not possible		
	retain the extract but include a reference		
	at the end of paragraph 6.4.2 to the		
	document and page on which it is located.		
6.4 Infrastructure	Recommendation 16:	This policy is not in accordance with national guidance as it states	Agree to modify the
Policy G15:	Delete policy.	only development in low risk flood areas will be acceptable. The	text as indicated to
Development in	In para 6.4.9 delete the following text in	supporting text adequately summarises the national guidance on	comply with the
Area of Flood Risk	brackets relating to the Saw Mill site.	flood risk and the policy should be removed.	examiner's
from Water	"(except for the Saw Mill site which already	The text in paragraph 6.4.9 indicates the Saw Mill site is an	recommendation.
Courses and	has planning consent for residential use of caravans and which would contribute	allocated site when it was just a "potential allocation". This reference should be removed.	
Surface Water		reference should be removed.	
	towards the restoration of a building of		
	historic interest through enabling development)."		
	development).		

6.4 Infrastructure	Recommendation 17:	The policy requires flood mitigation measures in all new	Agree to modify the
Policy G16: Design	Renumber policy.	developments, which is contrary to national guidance. It is only	text as indicated to
for Flood	Replace the first paragraph of the policy	appropriate to require flood mitigation in areas of flood risk i.e.	comply with the
Resilience and	with the following;	flood zones 2 and 3. In areas of low risk flooding including flood	examiner's
Resistance	"Developments which are allowed within	zone 1, no mitigation measures should be required other than	recommendation.
	Flood Zone 2 and 3 should ensure	typical drainage design standards.	
	appropriate flood mitigation measures are	The policy should not be worded in absolute terms to allow for	
	implemented, particularly the following"	flexibility in the type of flood mitigation suitable for different	
	Include the remainder of the policy as	sites and proposals and conform to advice in the NPPF not to	
	written.	stifle innovation.	
6.4 Infrastructure	Recommendation 18:	To allow for enough flexibility to provide different solutions and	Agree to modify the
Policy G17: Design	Renumber policy.	site scenarios.	text as indicated to
to Reduce Surface	Replace all references in the policy to		comply with the
Water Run Off	'must' with 'should'.		examiner's
			recommendation.

The Examiner, Mr Robert Bryan, has completed an independent examination of the Gargrave Neighbourhood Plan. The Summary section from the Examiner's Report is set out in full below:

The Parish Council has carried out an appropriate level of consultation and shown how it has responded to the comments it has received. I have taken into account the further comments received as part of the consultation under Regulations 14 and 16 on the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012. I have also considered certain representations made during the examination relating to the fairness of the residential site selection process.

I have recommended modifications to the policies in order to satisfy the basic conditions particularly to ensure that they provide a clear basis for decision-making in accordance with the NPPF and local development plan policies.

Subject to these modifications, I am satisfied that the plan meets the Basic Conditions, as follows:

- a) has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State,
- b) the making of the plan contributes to sustainable development,
- c) the making of the plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority,

- d) the making of the plan does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations and human rights requirements,
- e) the making of the plan is not likely to have a significant effect on a European site (as defined in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2012, as amended by the 2018 Regulations)

I am also satisfied that the Plan meets the procedural requirements of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

I am required to consider whether the referendum area should extend beyond the Neighbourhood Plan area and if it is to be extended, the nature of that extension. There is no evidence to suggest that the referendum area should extend beyond the boundaries of the plan area, as they are currently defined.

I recommend that the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a referendum based on the neighbourhood area authorised by the Craven District Council.

I am therefore pleased to recommend that the Gargrave Neighbourhood Development Plan as modified by my recommendations should proceed to a referendum.